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Thursday, September 22, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. HELT:  Good morning, everyone.  I think everybody's ready, so we can get started.

This is the technical conference for EB-2016-0160, Hydro One transmission rates application.  For the purpose of today I would like to remind parties that the technical conference is an opportunity for parties to ask questions with respect to clarifying an application, the evidence of the party, or any matters related to the various interrogatories.  It's not an opportunity for cross-examination, but rather more an opportunity for clarification, and this is clearly set out in the Board's Rules of Practice at Rule 25.

In terms of the scheduling for today, I think we would first start with appearances, to be followed then by a brief introduction by Mr. Nettleton of his witness panel and the areas of evidence that they are prepared to speak to and any remarks that he may have, and then we will go right into the technical conference questions.

When the witnesses are answering questions or in fact if parties are asking questions, I just remind you -- and some of you are very aware of this -- but there is a green button on the console in front of you.  Please make sure that you press that green button so is the light is on.  That indicates that your microphone is on.  If it is not on the court reporter will let you know, because it's very important that she be able to hear to properly transcribe, and also, this technical conference is being broadcast and we are in fact on-air.  You can tell from that light behind me that indicates we are on-air so others can listen into the technical conference.

The purpose of the court reporter being here, of course, is to transcribe the technical conference.  We will be noting down any undertakings that are provided, as well as noting any exhibits should there be any at this technical conference.

I don't think that there are really any other administrative matters to deal with.  We have canvassed the parties in advance of this technical conference for time estimates with respect to the two panels that the applicant has indicated they will have available for questioning.

From our estimate for panel 1 it looks like there's about two-and-a-half hours to three hours of questioning.  That may collapse somewhat if there is overlap between the parties.  You never know, but usually these estimates are a good indication.

And then for panel 2 we have approximately five hours, I think, of questioning.  But again, that may collapse.

So I think we will be able to complete our technical conference in the two days.  We will see how the schedule goes.  We normally take a break in the morning, usually around eleven o'clock, for 15 minutes.  Then we'll come back and break for lunch.

I am aware that there is an OPG presentation/technical conference going on tomorrow, I think between 9:00 and 2:00 or so, so some parties are not available to attend tomorrow morning and early afternoon, so we're going to do our best to try and accommodate their schedules as well with respect to questioning.
Appearances:

So on that note I would like to start with appearances.  My name is Maureen Helt, and I am counsel with the Board, and with me I have Harold Thiessen, who is the case manager.  I also have Chris Oakley, who is our consultant, and Chris Cobb, who is with the Board as Board Staff.  Thank you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I'll start.  It's Emma Blanchard, here on behalf of CME.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

MS. TAYLOR:  Karen Taylor, Hydro One.

MR. NETTLETON:  Gord Nettleton, counsel to Hydro One.

MS. LEE:  Lisa Lee, Hydro One.

MS. HENDERSON:  Erin Henderson, Hydro One.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice -- oh, I'm sorry.  Shelly Grice, consultant to Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Julie Girvan, for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. DUMKA:  Bohdan Dumka, for the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. HARPER:  Bill Harper, for VECC.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, also with VECC.

MR. YAUCH:  Brady Yauch with Energy Probe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin with Energy Probe.

--- Pause while technical issues are dealt with.

DR. HIGGIN:  Is that better?

MS. HELT:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  Brady Yauch with Energy Probe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin, Energy Probe.

MR. FERGUSON:  Cary Ferguson, Anwaatin Inc.

MR. BLAIR:  Andrew Blair, Power Workers' Union.

MR. KIDANE:  Bayu Kidane for the Power Workers' Union.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

Mr. Nettleton, at this time I would like to turn it over to you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Ms. Helt, and good morning, everyone.  My name is Gordon Nettleton.  I appear as counsel for Hydro One.  It is my pleasure and privilege to introduce the panel for this morning's proceedings.

As you mentioned, there are two panels that we are going to make available for the technical conference.  This morning the panel comprises of the following individuals.  Seated closest to the intervenors in the room is Mr. Oded Hubert.  Mr. Hubert is the vice-president of regulatory affairs.  Seated beside Mr. Hubert is Mr. Keith McDonell.  Mr. McDonell is the director of human resources and operations.  Seated beside Mr. McDonell is Mr. Joel Jodoin.  Mr. Jodoin is a senior financial analyst for Hydro One.  And seated beside Mr. Jodoin is Mr. Andre, Mr. Henry Andre.  Mr. Andre is the director of pricing and compliance.  And finally on the end is Mr. Bijan Alagheband, and Mr. Alagheband is the manager of load forecast.

Again, the purpose of this panel is really to address issues of clarifications to the interrogatories that were responded to in the proceeding to date.  And with that introduction I'll turn it over to them and ask Mr. Rubenstein to start us off.  Oh, I'm sorry, Mr. Hubert has some opening remarks as well, we had mentioned.  Sorry.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1
Oded Hubert
Keith McDonell
Joel Jodoin
Henry André

Bijan Alagheband
Presentation by Mr. Hubert:

MR. HUBERT:  Thank you.  Can everybody hear me?  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton, and for remembering me.

Good morning.  My colleagues and I are pleased to join you at this technical conference this morning to clarify any matters arising from the interrogatory process and from the responses we filed late August.

Many of you were present at the presentation day that we had on, I think it was September 9th, where our CEO, our CFO, Mike Penstone and I provided general context for our application, which we filed on May 31st and answered questions.  And I don't want to repeat that conversation today, but I think a few points are worth highlighting before we jump into the conference itself for the benefit of those of you who were not there and because it was not a transcribed event.

This is Hydro One's last transmission cost-of-service application, and as such we view it as a transitional application, seeking approval for revenue requirement for two years, 2017 and 2018.

In addition to complying with the Board's transmission filing requirements, which is were issued on February 11th of this year, we also sought to include elements of the renewed regulatory framework issued by the Board.

Included in our application are two inputs I would like to highlight.  One of them is feedback we received from our customers during a pretty extensive customer engagement exercise we went through this year, and the other one is the results of a transmission cost benchmarking study, which we also included in our application, and I already know that some of you expressed interest in discussing these this morning.

Our application also includes new proposed transmission scorecard as, prescribed in the filing requirements.  This application was prepared on a fairly compressed timeline relative to previous applications by Hydro One.  In part, this timing is due to the fact that our investment plan was formulated only after we undertook our customer engagement initiative, which was completed in April this year.

Our next transmission application, which will probably be filed in the spring of 2018, will of course be a multi- year incentive rate-making proposal under the OEB's RRFE for transmission applications.

Our President and CEO, Mayo Schmidt, noted at the presentation day the emphasis that Hydro One is now placing on customers and the reasons for that emphasis.  Our transmission connected customers comprise of LDCs, industrial end use customers, and transmission connected generators.

As part of this application, you’ll see that the recent customer engagement we undertook has sought a better understanding of our customer's needs and preferences for our investment plan.

While our application seeks approval for 2017 and 2018, the transmission system plan that we filed as part of the application is a consolidated five-year capital plan through to 2021.  We're not seeking rates or any other approvals for the last three years for that transmission system plan, which will be addressed in our multi-year application in spring of 2018.

Finally, we have in our application our also requested approval of an in-service additions variance account, which was first introduced to Hydro One transmission as part of our last settlement agreement, and continuing this account is consistent with our commitment to execute to approved plans.  Also you’ll note that our OM&A is declining, despite the rate base growth, increased compliance requirements, and other cost pressures over the period.  I would like now to turn to the exhibit that was filed with the Board yesterday in a letter.  Our intent today is to be very transparent and clear about the basis for our application and to use this conference, this opportunity with all of you in the room, to explain the changes we're making to our request.

As I mentioned, this application was prepared and filed over a compressed time frame.  In fact, when we filed it, we already indicated that an update was to follow which would reflect the impact of a very recent pension evaluation, and that update was filed as a blue page update on July 20.

Subsequently, during the interrogatory process, we discovered some errors in our evidentiary record, and introduced corrections in our responses, specifically in two areas.  One of these areas is pension costs with the related CCA balances and income tax costs.  The other area is executive compensation costs, and you’ll note that both of these areas are areas where there have been recent changes at Hydro One.

For the reasons I'll explain, Hydro One's proposed revenue requirement for 2017 and 2018 will only be impacted by corrections to the pension costs and relates CCA balances and tax costs, and not the compensation components.  For clarity in this technical conference, we're providing a revised revenue requirement calculation with explanatory notes on the incremental adjustments made since we filed that blue page update on July 20th.  In essence, what we’re trying to do here is connect the dots between what we have as a revenue requirement and the interrogatory responses that we filed.

Briefly, we've corrected two inputs to the revenue requirement calculation.  One is the OM&A pension costs and the other is the income tax cost relating to the reduction of pension costs.  During the interrogatory phase, we corrected our test year pension costs in our response to Staff interrogatory 131 to align with the numbers in the final pension valuation report.

In response to Staff interrogatory 137, we also corrected the test year income tax calculations which were originally provided in Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1, attachment 1, to reflect the impact of the reduced pension costs.

The impact on the total revenue requirement for 2017 and 2018 of these corrections is an increase of 6.3 million dollars and 3.9 million dollars respectively, and the revised rate increases are now 4.2 percent and 5.2 percent respectively for the two years.  And that is all reflected in the attachment we sent out yesterday.

Now, I did mention earlier there were some compensation changes as well, and I want to flag two items that we found that were inaccurate in our filing related to compensation.  These related to executive compensation and we are not proposing to adjust the revenue requirement for 2017 and 2018, but we do want all parties to be aware of these changes.

During interrogatories, we discovered that executive compensation costs did not properly reflect costs for Hydro One's new chief legal officer, chief operating officer, and executive vice-president of customer and corporate affairs.  All of these positions were filled only after our blue page update was filed in July, and the corrected costs are reflected in our responses to Energy Probe's interrogatories 24 and 29.

Finally, last week we found that the long-term incentive component of the CEO and CFO compensation had been accounted for twice in our application, specifically in line item for corporate management costs and the line item for OM&A.  For the record, the exhibits are Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 12, and Exhibit C1 3-3, table 1.

The net effect of these compensation-related oversights should be an increase of $300,000 in revenue requirement for each of the two test years.  However, Hydro One will not be revising its requested revenue requirement in this application to reflect the change.  As such, we are formally updating our requested requirements.

Prior to the inclusion of the two pension related changes, we were expecting a year-over-year increase in rates of 3.7 percent in 2017 and 5.4 percent for 2018 versus the prior years.  We're now seeking a revised rate increase of 4.2 and 5.2 respectively.

Finally, the total bill impacts remain unchanged; i.e. the estimated bill impacts for an average transmission Connected customer is .3 percent in 2017 and .4 in 2018, and for Hydro One medium density R1 customer consuming 750 kilowatt hours per month, the estimated increase is .2 percent in 2017 and .3 percent in 2018, again unchanged from our original filing.

I hope that helps and with that, I will turn it back to you, Ms. Helt.

MS. HELT:  Thank you very much.  Perhaps, Mr. Nettleton, you could just remind the parties what topics and areas of evidence your witness panel members are going to be able to answer questions on.  I appreciate this was done by email yesterday, but I think it would be helpful to remind parties so they’re sure to ask the right panel their respective questions.

MR. NETTLETON:  I’m happy to do that, Ms. Helt.  It's probably best to think of it in the context of what they won't be addressing; in other words, what the second panel will be addressing.

The second panel will be addressing matters related to the investment planning process that Hydro One has used for the purposes of this application.  It will a address the scorecard and metrics associated with the scorecard, and it will address matters relating to the risk assessment methodology and the risk model – the reliability modeling that will be carried out.

Panel one will be available to address matters related to the other aspects of the revenue requirement.  They will be available to address questions related to load forecast.  They will be available to address questions with respect to rate design, and also compensation and corporate costs, and corporate allocations of those costs within the organization.

MS. HELT:  Thank you very much.  And if there is nothing further, we can start with questions.  Mr. Rubenstein?
Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  With respect to the update that you filed, I was wondering if you could provide a revised version of the chart, the revenue requirement table you provided at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, page 8.

MR. HUBERT:  Could you repeat the numbers again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, page 8, and there’s a table 3 on that.

MR. JODOIN:  Yeah, we can do that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.1:  TO PROVIDE A REVISED VERSION OF THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT TABLE PROVIDED AT EXHIBIT A, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 8.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we can turn up -- this is SEC 36, so I, tab 6, Schedule 36.  We had asked you to provide a list of the benchmarking studies that you have -- that you contributed to.  I mean, first I note the electronic version is different than the ones that were sent out in the hard copies, the first one -- the hard copies for number 1 says "see attachment 1 for this report".  The electronic copy says you can't provide it.  I just note that.

I want to just ask about the studies first.  Can you help -- can you explain to me what is included in the North American transmission forum, Hydro One peer -- what is that -- talk about that report, the purpose of it?

MR. HUBERT:  Yes, the North American transmission forum is basically a forum of transmitters for exchange of best practices and information.  It is not a formal benchmarking forum.  It is basically a discussion forum among utilities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this one says it's a Hydro One peer review, so is it the -- that group is peer-reviewing your practices and recommending best practices?

MR. HUBERT:  That's correct.  That group has a practice of doing peer reviews among the various transmitters for each other.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then that's different from -- it listed a number 5.  That's a North American transmission forum transmission reliability report?  That's -- can you explain to me what that one is?

MR. HUBERT:  That is a separate exercise, correct.  That's a reliability focused report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And you're refusing to provide -- and you're unwilling to provide either of those reports?

MR. HUBERT:  Yes, that's correct.  We feel that is a basically best-practice discussion group, as opposed to a formal benchmarking study.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why -- is that the reason you're not providing it, or is it the reason in the response that...

MR. NETTLETON:  No, Mr. Rubenstein, the reason in the response -- the evidence on this record is found in this interrogatory response.  If you're asking the witness if anything has changed from that response, that's fine.  But again, if you're testing the reasons for not sharing the information, I think that that's a matter outside -- that's a legal matter, and we can have a debate about that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But he just -- the witness said something.  I didn't expect that he would say that.  I was just --


MR. NETTLETON:  Well --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- asking what is the rationale.

MR. HUBERT:  The rationale is obviously a legal reason --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. HUBERT:  -- so what we put in the interrogatory is correct.  What I'm telling you is the additional context for that, and that is that NATF operates as a peer group for discussion of best practice.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, you know, this interrogatory, as with all of the interrogatories, have responsibilities listed on the bottom left-hand corner, and you'll see that this interrogatory is the responsibility of Mr. Penstone, who is appearing this afternoon, and so these types of questions may be better suited for him.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I thought it was under the broader benchmarking category, but I can defer it.  All I was going to ask you is if you can provide this infor -- you can provide the reports that you have not -- that you appear to be refusing to provide in this interrogatory.

MR. HUBERT:  Our response is unchanged, Mr. Rubenstein.

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So that's a refusal?

MR. HUBERT:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.

If I could ask you to turn to SEC interrogatory 39, so I, tab 6, Schedule 39.  You were asked to advise about what schedule and what approved budgets you use -- you're using and the work execution metric, and your responses for the work execution metric, the percentage of budgeted work completed on or ahead of schedule, the measure used was the latest approved completion date for which -- would accommodate approved scope changes.

Can you just talk about that?  Can you help me understand where we would be in the cycle?  So are we talking about if there's -- you're forecasting projects with budgets in this application for 2017 and 2018.  Would it be that number?  Would it be -- how far down the line are we talking about that you would be using for that metric?

MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  And here again I will probably rely on Mr. Penstone to add some more colour to it this afternoon.  But Hydro One has a process whereby work is planned on an annual basis and then executed through the year.  And if there are deviations from the original plan, whether it's in terms of projected costs, scope, or outcomes, then -- and schedule, of course -- then there is a formal process for a review variance to actually have those changes approved and agreed to within the company.

So in most cases when there is a change to the schedule, that would be a formal change from the original plan.  And it would be a documented change.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If you think Mr. Penstone is better, probably best that we just sort of defer the whole thing so we don't have two parts of the questions in two parts of the transcript.

If I can ask you to turn to SEC interrogatory 43.  I'm wondering -- I know there is nobody from Navigant or First Quartile, so I'll have a couple questions that I assume there may be some undertakings needed.

Are you able to provide a version of this table that includes Hydro One as well, so we can see using these categories of information where you fit in?

MR. HUBERT:  I don't see any reason why not to, but I'm not the author of this report, so we would have to check with the authors, with Navigant, for something like that, and I think that may be best brought out later in the process.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, can you repeat the question?  Are you asking if Hydro One -- you want a chart?  Sorry, can you just repeat the question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, sure.  I'm wondering if another version of this chart can be provided that includes Hydro One in it?

MR. NETTLETON:  So the same metrics that are reported --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- on this chart but have a line item for Hydro One.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. HUBERT:  I don't see any problem with providing that.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ1.2 would be to provide a table similar to that provided in SEC IR 43, the difference being with the inclusion of Hydro One in the table.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.2:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE SIMILAR TO THAT PROVIDED IN SEC IR 43, THE DIFFERENCE BEING WITH THE INCLUSION OF HYDRO ONE IN THE TABLE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to SEC Interrogatory No.48.  And it was asked in the underlying information here, so probably best, actually, if we bring that -- the original evidence up.

MS. HENDERSON:  [Speaking off-mic]  Just a second...

MS. HELT:  Are you having technical difficulties?

MS. HENDERSON:  [Speaking off-mic]  Just trying to find the very specific page in the attachment.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In the interrogatory, we had asked you to show a chart that had administrative costs alone, and the gist of the response was we don't have it, but essentially you could look at the O&M and subtract it from the OM&A, and you have a rough estimate of what the administration costs are.

So I was wondering, so that we could properly do that analysis, if we can be provided the data from each of those two charts because -- I mean, obviously I can't do that using that chart, and I don't know if each line is the same as the one above it; they will be different entities.

I recognize that you don't want to provide the names of the comparators in this, and I'm fine with just providing, you know, company X, company Y.  The only one that you would need to identify would be Hydro One.

MR. HUBERT:  For this one, not being the author of the report, I don't know what information Navigant and first quartile providers have, but we can certainly check with them to see if that informs is available.  But I don't have access to that myself.

MS. HELT:  Is that all right, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, it's the best I am going to get, I guess.

MR. HUBERT:  Without knowledge of the underlying data, I can't commit to anything more, I'm sorry.

MS. HELT:  So then undertaking TCJ1.3 will be to request from Navigant if they have the data underlying the two charts found at pages 32 and 33 of -- Mr. Rubenstein, the exhibit number, the original?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is B-2-21, attachment 4, page 32.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, as referenced in SEC IR 48.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They obviously have -- they have data, they're creating this chart, so it's just to provide it.

MS. HELT:  That's TCJ1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.3:  TO REQUEST FROM NAVIGANT IF THEY HAVE THE DATA UNDERLYING THE TWO CHARTS FOUND AT PAGES 32 AND 33 OF B-2-21, ATTACHMENT 4, PAGE 32 (REFERENCE SEC IR 48).

MR. NETTLETON:  Just to be clear, Mr. Rubenstein, if they do have data -- I use that term loosely, because I agree with you -- you're asking for the production of that data in a manner that does not disclose any of underlying entities that give rise to that data?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you're willing to, that's fine.  But I'm not asking for that.

MR. NETTLETON:  You would be amenable to that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Except with the exception of Hydro One.

MR. NETTLETON:  Understood.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if the data is being provided, I just ask that it be provided obviously in an Excel format or some easily -- so the analysis can be done.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can turn to B2, tab 1, schedule 1 – I’m sorry, I apologize, I wasn’t reading the reference. Staff interrogatory 97(I), tab 1, schedule 97.
In part 1, we had asked:

“Has Hydro One attempted to compare costs across construction sites for these heterogeneous activities?  If yes, please provide examples.”

 And in the response, the last -- you talk about what you're attempting to do and, in the last sentence, you say:
“Hydro One has initiated a benchmarking initiative to determine which values are most appropriate to use as comparators.”

 I wonder if you could just talk about that, what’s the initiative, what you're looking at, any preliminary thoughts that have come from that.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, we're in panel 2 land.  We’re dealing with asset metrics, so we may want to save that for this afternoon.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would that be same for Staff 99?

MR. HUBERT:  I believe it would, yes, if you're looking at the definitions of planners and plan work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Interrogatory Staff 1 -- and you may not even need to bring this up.  It's mentioned a number of times in the application, and it was talked about during the presentation day.  And one of the -- you were asked about the new corporate structure and the IPO, and the comment that is talked about is, well, you know, we have a new independent board of directors, and I was just -- can you explain to me?  Was the board of directors that were in place beforehand, were they not independent?

MR. HUBERT:  I'm actually not a governance expert. However, the whole agreement with the government as a sole shareholder of course was a completely different construct in terms of nominations to the board.  And that construct is no longer in place with the new ownership structure for Hydro One.

So I would say the independent structure is more -- it is a new independent board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the board before, they were -- I assume besides the CEO were all not employees of Hydro One, nor were they members of --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, I believe we're into the area of cross-examination.  If you're trying to cross-examine or seek information about the interpretation of independent board of governors, and who the past board was and the like, I don't think those are questions that are in the realm of clarifications.

I think they're in the realm of testing the evidence that is the subject matter of this interrogatory and it's best left for the hearing, not this proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't agree with that.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm instructing the witness not to answer the question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm commenting I don't agree with your interpretation.

If I could ask you about BOMA 30, and essentially you were asked in this to provide -- you provided a chart about the allowed ROE versus your actual ROE.  Do you have a forecast for what your actual ROE should be at the end of 2016?

MR. JODOIN:  The forecast for the actual ROE, we will not be supplying that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why not?

MR. HUBERT:  Just to clarify the question, are you looking for a forecast of the actual ROE that Hydro One will attain in 2016?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. HUBERT:   That is forward-looking information. I don’t believe we’ll be able to provide that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand maybe in a public setting. But are you able to provide that --


MR. HUBERT:  Well, this is a public setting, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I mean are you able to provide is it on a confidential basis?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, Mr. Rubenstein, we would not provide that information on a confidential basis.  Publicly traded companies now need to be very cautious about the implications.  These types of data points that you're asking for can affect the trading of securities, and so this type of question is not appropriate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is relevant information.  If the Board has procedures to deal with exactly the situation for the rationale that you're discussing, the confidentiality provisions.

MR. NETTLETON:  My understanding from what you heard from Mr. Jodoin and Mr. Hubert is that the company is not prepared to provide that information, and so we're objecting to the question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I can ask you to turn to LPMA Interrogatory No.5, in part (a) you were asked to provide most recent year-to-date actuals available for 2016, along with a current forecast for the remainder of the bridge year.  And your response is there has been no material change in 2016 OM&A.  I'm just wondering what you mean by "no material change."

MR. JODOIN:  The forecast that we have submitted as part of the 2016 bridge year as part of this application is consistent with our filing.  It's not materially different.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my question was just, obviously it's not going to be dollar for dollar the same.  I just want to understand, you know, what are we talking about when we're talking about material?


MR. JODOIN:  Generally speaking, the materiality threshold is under 3 million.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the difference is going to be plus or minus 3 million?


MR. JODOIN:  At the time of preparing this application and deriving our bridge year forecast, that's...


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Could I ask you to turn to I-6-2, so SEC interrogatory 2, attachment 1.  If you can go further down.  Sorry, I -- my apologies, I-6-2, attachment 1.  So we had asked you in the interrogatory to provide business planning, budget documents, that you -- budget planning documents.  I was wondering if we can turn to -- and you provided this presentation.


If I can ask you to turn to page 5 of that.  And it references a written business plan for 2016 to 2020 that I'm unsure if this is the company as a whole or this is -- each individual division is providing.


So first, can you clarify that?


MR. JODOIN:  So this was a -- so the intent of this was to have a lot of the corporate groups create, I guess, a business planning story about the efforts their groups undertake.  Basically, you can look at it as an org definition of their group and what they're trying to achieve.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And I assume when you say it's to educate a new board member, we're talking about your board of directors?


MR. JODOIN:  That's fair.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand what -- when you talk about each group what level -- trying to understand the organization.  How high up is -- would you define a group?


MR. JODOIN:  So an example, if you leverage Exhibit C-1-3-3, where we outline various groups, so finance would be an example.  There are various groups under the finance heading where -- the corporate controller.  They're all listed out.  These are the types of groups that we would have requested information for.  Just a high-level document.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And can you provide those high-level documents?


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Rubenstein, you're going to have to explain a little bit for us as to why those underlying documents are needed.  The application has summarized that information, and the application is based upon that summary that are the inputs to the revenue requirement.


The level of granularity of going into and seeking information of the individual business plans of individual departments or groups is a level of granularity that we're going to need better explanation as to why it's relevant to this proceeding.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think it provides a perspective not -- it provides a better perspective of what the individual groups are doing.  This is information that already exists, so you're not having to -- I'm not asking you to derive a new business plan for each of these groups.  It helps to understand what each of the groups believes that they require and what their activities are, testing the budgets of each of these groups on a going-forward basis, and I would add, it is especially important since, in response to other interrogatories which we'll ask about afterwards, you say the company doesn't have a business plan.


MR. NETTLETON:  I didn't say that, Mr. Rubenstein.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, not you specifically.


MR. NETTLETON:  What I tested was the level of granularity of the request that you've made to provide the individual business plans of the groups in the organization, and my point is that that level of granularity is not relevant to the nature of the issues that we see arising in this application.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, and as I said, I don't agree with that.  That may be your position.  I believe that they are important to being able to test the budgets of the individual.


MR. NETTLETON:  And the underlying debate then is whether this proceeding is intended to test the underlying budgets of groups within the company, and again I'll reiterate, we do not believe that the level of granularity of that type of enquiry is intended for this proceeding.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well --


MR. NETTLETON:  So we object to the underlying request, and I'm instructing the witness not to answer the question.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, I'll just respond to that.  I understand your instructions to your witnesses.  But you're seeking money at this level for these individual business units.  This proceeding is exactly to test the underlying budgets which make up the revenue requirement which makes up the transmission rates.  It's what we're all here to be doing.


MS. HELT:  I take it then that this is a refusal to answer the question, and we'll note that.


MR. NETTLETON:  If we were to go down the road, Mr. Rubenstein, that you're suggesting, it would mean to have every department of Hydro One appear before this Board and in this proceeding to discuss the granularity of the business plans that they have comprised, that they have inputted into the application that is now before this Board.  That level of enquiry, that level of granularity, is not something that we see as relevant to this proceeding.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, we have your position.


Can I ask you to turn to -- just on this interrogatory -- attachment 3.  I assume this is for -- best for the afternoon panel?


MR. NETTLETON:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to interrogatory 56.  We had asked you in this interrogatory what assumptions is Hydro One making for the purposes of this application regarding the PWU after the expiry of its current collective agreement and the end of the test year, so there is a period of April 1st to December 31st, with the current collective agreement.  And your response says:

"It assumes that there will be a continued focus on cost containment and increased flexibility as Hydro One enters collective bargaining with the PWU in 28 (sic).  Due to the nature of the collective bargaining, it's premature to elaborate on specifics at this time."

I understand the confidentiality of information, and there are clearly some parties in this room that this information would not want to be provided to.  But what I would like you to do -- and you can provide it on a confidential basis -- what are the assumptions you're making for the purposes of the budgets that underlie the application with respect to --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, the question has answered -- the interrogatory response answers that.  It says assumptions -- that there will be a continued focus on cost containment and increased flexibility is what has been the focus.

The underlying assumptions that have been made are contained in the revenue requirement numbers that have been applied for.

The issue that you are you're touching upon is the disclosure of negotiation positions and information that is commercially sensitive to Hydro One's commercial interest, and that is not what should be again the subject matter of this proceeding, whether it's done on a confidential basis or not.

So again I'm instructing the witness not to answer the question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe we're misunderstanding what I'm seeking here.  You're seeking an amount for 2017 and ‘18 the collective agreement that goes for just over a year.  And what I'm trying to understand is for the budgetary purposes that underlie this application, were there any assumptions that you had to make for the budgets for that period of time that are about that the current collective agreement will change, so that the budgets that underlie the application will change.

That's what I'm trying to understand.  The answer could be no, we're just assuming what the current application going -- whatever, the rates, the pay will be maintained and the other provisions will not, so it won't have an effect on the budget.  Or are you making some assumptions that there will be a change that will affect that budget and if so, it's that that I'm asking you to provide to help me understand that.

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps I can help out a little bit.  As you point out, the PWU collective agreement expires March 31, 2018.  So we don't know what will happen post that, because we haven't completed collective bargaining.  But in 2017, there is a one percent wage increase, so that will be the assumption for 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So essentially, I think what you’re saying is we’ve made no assumptions for the purposes of the budget that there will be any change.

MR. MCDONELL:  It will be the same assumption that we use in 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I'm going to ask you to turn to Schools 62.  We asked you about the vacancy rates generally in this interrogatory, and the first was we’d asked to provide your actual vacancy rates for 2012 to 2015, and your response was it's not a metric Hydro One tracks, primarily because Hydro One does not experience difficulties in filling the majority of its positions.

I’m just -- so you don't have that metric.  I'm wondering if you can you provide some information or how you would -- what type of data you would have to provide to us to help us understand.  At any given time, entities have vacancies.  People retire that you didn't expect, people quit, the job doesn't get filled, all those sorts of things.

I'm trying to understand what that would -- what that looks like in any given year.  What percentage of your employees that you budgeted for, there is some vacancy for some reason.

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps I can help and I guess – I wrote the answer to this, and the reason why we don't have a vacancy rate is because there are a number of HR metrics and you're only going to track HR metrics if it's going to lead to a good business outcome.  And we really don't have a lot of difficulty in filling our positions much.

For some organizations, there may be quite a lag between posting a position and actually filling it.  We don't really experience that at Hydro One.  But maybe to help answer your question, I mean it -- if somebody retires, most business units are going to know the person is going to retire, so they will be posting that position in advance.  So the lag between a person leaving and actually filling is a very short period of time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with respect to other reasons; people quit their, people go on disability?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, for those things you can't really predict, I mean, I would say if I had to give an average, it would probably take two weeks to post, another couple of weeks to do the interviews and depending if the person was internal or external, maybe another month, so perhaps like a two-month period of time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we were looking at the forecast for 2017, the amount of employees you expect to have in each of the categories, the number of employees that you’re seeking to – that you have, the expectation is how many of those would we expect that, you know, 99 point something, some very high number, they will be there at any given time?

MR. MCDONELL:  Maybe you could ask your question another way.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You forecasted a number of positions you're going to have for 2017-18; number of management, number of power workers, number of Society positions, that's how you derive your budget for those positions.

And from what I take it from your response and all this that because of unexpected retirements or layoffs -- not layoffs, but people quitting or whatever, that really at any given time the amount of people that actually we expect to be there versus what we forecast because you don't build in vacancy rates is going to be 99 point something, you know, very, very high?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think generally that's a fair comment.  My only hesitation is within a lot of our trade positions, what we tend to do as people retire, we don't automatically backfill that time.  At the end of the year, we do what we call a mass higher and makeup and post for all the jobs that people have retired during the year.

But putting that aside, I would say that at any given time, we have the people available as we have forecasted.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Can I ask you to turn to Energy Probe 27?  This is a question about the share grant that you're providing to certain employees.

Can I just understand -- is the share grant Hydro One will issue new shares to provide to these individuals?

MR. MCDONELL:  For the PWU and the Society who have the share grants, Hydro One will issue common shares.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Can I ask you to turn to SEC 3?


So in SEC 3, we had asked you to please provide the most recent Hydro One business and/or strategic plan, and the response pushes us to what is CCC 6.  And the response there is – well, the question is different.  But the response is:

“Hydro One's strategic planning process is not complete as such, and a new strategic plan is not yet in place.”

Do you have a business plan, though?

MR. HUBERT:  We have a -- business planning numbers are reflected in this application, yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But is there a business plan?

MR. JODOIN:  The business plan is reflected in this application.

MR. HUBERT:  If you're looking for a business planning document?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, usually the board of directors is approving some business plan, most entities.

MR. HUBERT:  There is no business planning document or board-approved business plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there an expectation that one will be at some point created?

MR. HUBERT:  The business planning process is actually reflected in our application, and the business plan, the results of the business plan are as filed here.  I'm differentiating between a strategic plan, which was the original question, and a business plan.

So strategic planning is an ongoing process at Hydro One.  But in terms of a business plan document or a strategic plan document, we have nothing that we can offer that exists right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Harper, how long do you think you'll be?  I'm just wondering if you are going to be more than until 11, we could either just have a couple of short people who have a shorter amount of time?

MR. HARPER:  I suspect I'll be more than to eleven o'clock, so if you want to take some other people.

MS. HELT:  That just might be easier, rather than breaking up your questioning.

Who has -- anyone want to go who has about 20 minutes to half an hour?  No volunteers?

MS. BLANCHARD:  [Speaking off-mic]  I can go.

MS. HELT:  Okay.
Questions by Ms. Blanchard:


MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning, panel.  So I guess the first question really is, there was a ruling on confidentiality yesterday, and I just want to be clear on whether I can now ask some questions on the public record about a couple of the documents that have now -- where the Board has ruled that they won't be confidential.

And so I saw the letter last night, and I understand that there are some questions about the energy agreement.  So that one --


MS. HELT:  Yeah.  The applicant made it clear yesterday evening that they were intending to seek a -- and file a motion to review and vary with respect to the decision that was issued yesterday by the panel with respect to confidentiality regarding the Inergi outsourcing agreement specifically.

The panel on that basis has instructed me to advise parties that that document is to be treated as confidential pending any determination on a motion to review and vary should such a motion be filed.

So there are no questions in this public forum to be asked on that document.  Whether or not questions will be allowed to be asked on that document in camera at some point, I'm waiting to seek -- or to obtain instructions from the panel in that regard.

With respect to the other documents, it's my understanding that Mr. Nettleton -- well, we haven't discussed this, but there was no objection raised with respect to the remainder of the panel's decision.

So Mr. Nettleton, perhaps you can address us on that point.

MR. NETTLETON:  I can.  Obviously this is late-breaking news.  Our focus has been on the technical conference, and the ramifications of the Board's decision as it came in yesterday afternoon haven't been fully digested, if I might use that term, by my client.

We are reviewing the decision and we are obviously intending to file a motion to seek review of variance on the Inergi.  Whether -- the Inergi agreement.  Whether the scope of the motion is broader than that to include other documents, I think it's fair to say that that determination has not yet been made.

So I don't have instructions on that as of yet.  What I have instructions on last night was that the Notice of Motion that will be filed will relate to the Inergi agreement.

With respect, though, to the other areas, if you have questions -- in trying to be helpful here, if there are questions relating to the Fosters & Associates agreement, for example, that is something that Hydro One has stated that they are prepared to put on the public record.

So if you have questions there, I think it's fair to say that that would be fair game and could be discussed with probably panel 2, given the topic.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Nettleton, just to be clear, there was no indication yesterday with respect to any of the other documents.  This is something new to me, so I'm going to have to consider what our position is going to be with respect to that.

Regardless, if there are questions that can be asked with respect to the documents that can be asked in such a manner that they do not breach confidentiality -- in other words, in a general sense -- that is a way also to approach this.  I don't know what the nature of your questions are.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I guess I had one or two questions I wanted to ask about the answer to Staff interrogatory 118, which wasn't the actual Inergi report, but it was the performance indicators response.  So I had one or two questions on that.  I won't ask them now, but --


MS. HELT:  If it's with respect to an IR response that's on the record, that's fine.  As long as you're not referring to the document itself.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, the response was filed confidentiality.

MS. HELT:  Oh.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Confidentially --


MS. HELT:  All right.  Then --


MS. BLANCHARD:  -- and it was one of the two documents --


MS. HELT:  Then we can't --


MR. NETTLETON:  That one is easy, in that there is nothing new to report than what was stated yesterday on the record, and that is the Inergi agreement -- the confidential status of the Inergi agreement is something that is going to be --


MS. BLANCHARD:  I'm not talking about the actual agreement, though.  Remember, there's two documents, and I'm talking about the first one.  If we're not clear yet based on the decision that was issued by the Board yesterday on -- well, I wanted to ask a couple questions about Towers Watson, a couple questions about Hugessen, and a couple questions about the actual IR response, not the agreement.

So those were three documents that I understood are no longer confidential and that, based on the letter last night, there wasn't going to be a motion on.  So I'm
just --


MS. HELT:  Yeah, I appreciate you're not clear.  That was my understanding as well, that there was no dispute with respect to the other documents.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think it's fair to say, though, that this is late-breaking news, and for us to -- for my client to be able to give a definitive position about the scope of the review and variance at this time, less than 24 hours after the decision is issued, is challenging at best, particularly when most of the witnesses and individuals involved in that decision are preparing for a technical conference that has, shall we say, very large breadth and very limited definition.

So we're trying as best as we can to be helpful in this proceeding, and the focus in this proceeding has been on matters in the public record.  So if I could seek your indulgence, and if we could pass on those questions for now, I think during the course of the next 24 hours perhaps I will get better clarity from my client on these other outstanding issues that have been the subject matter of the review and variance -- or, sorry, of the original confidentiality decision, and we can get back to you.

For now I would ask, could we put them to the end of the order.

MS. HELT:  If no one objects then what I would suggest is we hold questions with respect to those documents for now.  I will also see if I get direction from the panel, and Mr. Nettleton, if you can provide me with some indication as to what your client's position is going to be with respect to these documents as early as possible, that would be helpful.

It may be that we need to go in camera, and then we will do so at the end of panel 1 and then panel 2 respectively.  But we'll -- depending on what Mr. Nettleton's instructions are and what he provides me.

MR. NETTLETON:  I mean, I take your point, Ms. Helt, that the safest course of action would be to go in camera, ask the questions under the assumption that they are confidential.  And --


MS. HELT:  In camera is confidential, yes, and only those who have signed the declaration and undertaking are allowed to be in the room, so --


MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  No, I understand.  And that's why I'm saying the safest course would be to go in camera and ask the questions in camera, given the assumption that they're confidential.  But the trouble, obviously, is, is that we have a Board decision that says they're public.  And then the real issue is, which is something that my client is considering, is, is -- and what is the nature and breadth of any motion to seek a review and variance of that decision.  Is it inclusive of all of the documents?  Is it inclusive of some of the documents?

MS. HELT:  You will have to determine that with your client.

MR. NETTLETON:  I understand.  So I'm raising this to your comment of "as soon as possible".  And we're trying, but right now please be aware that we have only received the decision less than 24 hours, and it's unreasonable to expect my client to be making those types of decisions in a way that's informed and deliberate, so we're taking that time to make that decision.

MS. HELT:  And that's fine.  I wasn't suggesting otherwise.  I'm just suggesting as soon as possible, and if your answer as soon as possible is that you don't know, then that's your answer.

So do you have other questions that you can ask now?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes, I do.  Let me just...

So my first question relates to an answer that was provided to our -- our second question, so CME 2, related to the auditor general's report.  Actually, sorry; I think the better reference might be Board Staff 2.  It relates to the maintenance, the maintenance orders.  I think there was actually a more detailed response provided in answer to Board Staff IR 2, on the second page.

So is this the right panel for maintenance questions?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, unfortunately, it's not.  The witness's – the responsibility for this IR is shown to be Mr. Penstone, so I would defer that to panel 2.

MS. BLANCHARD:  All right.  So my next question then would be with respect to the answer provided to SEC 59, and this is on the short and long-term incentive compensation.

MR. NETTLETON:  Now that one is for this panel.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.  So I understand these charts were provided in order to just give sort of the outside limit of potential compensation.  And so if you scroll down on the second page, there's an indication of what's been budgeted for.

So I guess my question is why are you budgeting so much below the possible exposure on these incentive plans?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think the answer -- maybe Joel will correct, or jump in if he needs to -- but the way we've been budgeting is budgeting at what the target amount would be, not the maximum amount or the threshold; it’s the target.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And what happens if one of the -- one of the persons, one of the people entitled to these incentives actually earns significantly more than what you've budgeted for?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think the answer to that is that we would be paying more than what we are recovering.  But the fact is if the person has achieved more than target, they have what I’ll call knocked it out of the park and they have very done well on their goals, so there’s going to be some savings for whatever they did to get beyond target.

MS. BLANCHARD:  But are you going to -- so the company would just absorb that balance then?

MR. JODOIN:  Financially effectively, yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  My next question relates to SEC 63 and in answer to this question, you've advised that you're not able to provide any information as to the amount of external contractors you might use for OM&A.

And so I guess my first question is why is that?  Why is that type of information not available?

MR. JODOIN:  I think the question in general is very widespread, so it could involve a lot of different business units, or consultants, or contractors.  So from a system perspective, compiling that data in the time frame that we had in responding to these interrogatories was just not possible.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Sorry I'm jumping around a bit; I apologize for that.

I would like to ask a couple questions relating to  your common corporate functions and services budget.  And I think actually the most useful reference here is the exhibit, which is Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, at page 2 of 26, and on this page, you've provided a general summary of why we're seeing this $23 million increase.

So the first question I have for you is that there's an indication that the regulatory affairs costs have increased because business performance management was taken out of finance.  But I'm seeing that the finance costs are also increasing and there isn’t -- so I would have expected to see reduction in the finance costs.

So can you provide a little bit more explanation as to why the finance costs are increasing and, I guess, by how much because I think that delta is being possibly clouded to some extent by the removal of this business performance management piece.

MR. JODOIN:  I can try and help you with that.  Can you be a little more specific on the increases, the year range you're talking about?  Because when I look at the bridge year for finance two out into the test years, the finance category actually goes down.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I was looking, for example, from 2015 up to the bridge year.  So is that not a relevant –- looking at -- I guess the question maybe partly is when did you take them out then.

I'm just seeing sort of an increase from 2015 to 2016 and I'm just -- I would have expected to see more of a decrease in finance relating to the removal of that, of that function.

MR. JODOIN:  I think conceptually, I think we're going to have to disagree.  Because from 2015 out until 2018, it does decrease.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And that's related to removal of that function?

MR. JODOIN:  So there are other impacts flowing into the finance group outside of that reduction.  So one of the groups embedded in the finance is our -- is cost related to our outsourcing group.  And when we were performing the last rate application, everything derived, I guess, for the outer years was using estimates for the renegotiation of the contract.

But in preparing this application, obviously we have that contract for the test years, so the actual costs went into there.  So one of the reductions is -- through the competitive RFP, there is some lower finance costs specific to the outsourcing.

So there is other things beyond just the business performance group.  But yes, it is contributing to the reduction.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Do we have a number for this business performance management cost item that's being moved around?

MR. JODOIN:  Right now, I do not have that number.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Can it be provided?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, it could be provided.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ1.4 will be to provide the number for the business performance cost management related to table 1 at Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 2 of 26.
UNDERTAKING No. TCJ1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER FOR THE BUSINESS PERFORMANCE COST MANAGEMENT RELATED TO TABLE 1 AT EXHIBIT 1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 2 OF 26

MS. BLANCHARD:  My next question relates to your general counsel and corporate secretariat costs, and we had asked some questions in our CME, question 3, about this class action that we've noticed in one of the reports filed.

So the first question is whether one of the items that is increasing your general counsel and secretariat costs over the bridge and test years is planning for the defence of that class action?

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm going to wade in here.  I think the -- if you're asking -- let me see if I understand the question.  If you're asking whether or not the internal law department of Hydro One's responsibilities include the management of the or oversight of the class action, I think that's fair.  If you're asking budgetary amounts about the costs associated with defending that action, I'm going to interject and object to that line of questioning, because it does affect Hydro One's ongoing positions with respect to the litigation of that action.

So it's not something that we can discuss publicly.  It's not something that is relatively pertinent to this proceeding.  The proceeding -- this proceeding is about the overall budgets for the test years, and we can discuss those at the higher level than a granular level of specific costs for specific litigation matters that are within Hydro One's bailiwick.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, can you provide a breakdown in this $10.4 million for legal services as to how much of it is external and how much is internal?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, we can look into that.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ1.5, to provide a breakdown of the 10.4 million allotted for legal costs with respect to how much is internal and how much is external.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.5:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 10.4-MILLION ALLOTTED FOR LEGAL COSTS WITH RESPECT TO HOW MUCH IS INTERNAL AND HOW MUCH IS EXTERNAL.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I think -- and looking also at the time, maybe I'll leave it there.  I do have questions on those three documents that I mentioned earlier, and I'll, you know, stay tuned for when we might be able to ask those questions.

MS. HELT:  Yeah.  Thank you very much.

I suggest we take the morning break now.  Why don't we break until quarter past 11:00.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:51 a.m.

MS. HELT:  So everyone, if we can get started.


I understand, Mr. Nettleton, you've had an opportunity to speak with your client with respect to the decision on confidentiality, and you have some direction from your client in this regard that you can share with us.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thanks, Ms. Helt.  I think one of the common elements this morning has been the implications of the Board's decision yesterday and the emails that were exchanged during the evening, and the scope of this technical conference as a result.

And over the course of the last thirty minutes, I've now had the ability to speak with my client and clarify with them their intentions with regards to the decision, and I can advise you the following.

Hydro One will be filing a notice of motion seeking review and variance of the Board's decision in part.  That notice of motion will include a request for a stay of the decision as it relates to and only to the documents authorized by Inergi.  So the Inergi agreement and also the Inergi key performance document, which I'm now scrambling to read into the record from the decision, so bear with me.

The documents are described on page 3 of the Board's decision dated yesterday, and they are items number 2 and number 3.  They were described together in the Board's decision and the findings, and it is for that reason that there perhaps is some unclarity between what happened last night where in my email described only the Inergi outsourcing agreement.

That was a misstep on my part, and it was intended to include both items 2 and 3, which again are described in the decision together.  That will be the subject matter of the notice of motion and the stay.


The implications of that are this, as I understand it.  Hydro One is prepared to follow the Board's decision as it relates to the remaining documents, namely the disclosure of the Fosters Associates document, which was described on page 2, item 1.  And then the only other ones that were in contest was the Hugessen documents, which are described as item 7 on page 5, which is the executive compensation benchmarking report and the non-executive compensation benchmarking report.


Hydro One is not contesting that and is therefore, for purposes of today's session, willing to have discussions, or have questions of clarification regarding those documents put to the company witnesses.

I would caution, obviously, that the authors of those reports are not in the room.  So the magnitude of the type of questions and responses we get may very well take the form of undertakings.  But I again just want to be clear with parties on that front.

The other document that will be put on the public record will be the EPRI evaluation documents, which was a response to I-96 which was described in item 8 of the decision.

So bottom line at the end of the day, the scope of the dispute that Hydro One has with this decision has ben focused to Inergi, and the remaining documents that the Board has decided to place in the public domain are not going to be contested.  Those other documents that are described in the decision that have been protected and afforded confidential treatment are ones that Hydro One is prepared to live with.


I think the open question then for the parties is how we wish to use this time for purposes of questions that relate to the documents in the record.  So, Ms. Helt, over to you on that.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton, and I appreciate you being able to speak with your clients and get some instructions and clarification in this regard.  I do appreciate that it is a short time frame, obviously.  You only received the decision last night, so I do appreciate that.

For the purpose of today then, in keeping with the panel's direction to the parties yesterday with respect to the Inergi outsourcing agreement and asking parties to treat that document as confidential pending any motion to review, I would ask that parties -- and I can't overturn the order the panel made.

However, given that Mr. Nettleton has indicated that Hydro One seeks to file a motion to review and vary with respect to that part of the decision that deals not only with the Inergi outsourcing agreement, but also with the Inergi performance indicators document, and has requested that the decision to make those documents public be, in essence, stayed at this time, it would be in keeping with the intent of the practice direction that we do hold these documents both confidential at this time, pending the filing of any motion to review and any decision by the panel with respect to that.

So if there are any questions with respect to those two documents, we will deal with them at the end of the day in camera.  And I would remind parties the declaration and undertaking that they signed with respect to those two documents then remains valid with respect to the terms set out therein at this time.

Ms. Blanchard, you did have a couple questions with respect to the compensation documents.  Perhaps we'll finish off with your questions for panel 1, and then we will turn it over to Mr. Harper.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you very much.  My first questions then on the question of compensation will relate to the Towers Watson report, which is at Exhibit I-6-56, attachment 2.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And I would like to focus on the second of the two reports, the one which was -- there was a first one that dealt with executive compensation and the second one dealt with competitive compensation review.  It's dated October 16, 2015.

MR. MCDONELL:  Just for clarity, that is the non-executive bands, was it?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Non-executive.


MR. MCDONELL:  I have that, thank you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And so at the second page of that report, there is some benchmarking results reported relating to various bands.  And I understand at page 2, that this is blending both the operational and the core support bands.

And then moving to page 4 of that report, there's the support bands.  And --


MR. MCDONELL:  Could I just stop for a second?  Should I be waiting for this, or --

MS. BLANCHARD:  It's attachment 2, but there’s two reports that were included there, and I'm at page 4.  Yes, so if you scroll down, I don't think the second report had a separate -- I apologize, it's attachment 3.  It was on -- I couldn't see the font.  I apologize, it's attachment 3.  Page 4, attachment 3.

I'm looking here -- and I'll just take for example band 7, where 104 employees were benchmarked.  Can you describe what generally employees in band 7 are doing?

MR. MCDONELL:  It really does depend.  For band 7 in the support role, that could very well be a manager in our finance group.  It could be an HR consultant.  It could be -- not regulatory, because that would be core.  So sort of the professional -- what I would call white-collar profession.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And we have here the average compensation that these employees are receiving.  Would it be possible to calculate a number that could be attributed to that 22 percent?  So to put it a different way, if you were to bring band 7 to the median, what would the savings be?  And could you calculate that for each of these five bands?

MR. MCDONELL:  Based on the average P50 for base salary, so if I understand you correctly, the average band 7 is making $111,000 per year, and the average at P50 is 91.  That's the Delta you're trying to arrive at?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes, and so would it be accurate then -- or would it be accurate to multiply that by, let's say for band 7, 104,000, and that would be the number?  That would be the savings if you brought them down to the median?  Would you agree that that -- or could you do that?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I could do that.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And --


MS. HELT:  Oh, just a moment.  That will be an undertaking then, and we will mark that or note that as Undertaking TCJ1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.6:  TO CONFIRM IMPACT OF PAY BANDS DOWN TO MEDIAN

MS. BLANCHARD:  And then the next question, there's a, I guess a recommendation at the bottom.  Can you give us a description of what measures Hydro One is considering or planning in order to address in order to try to bring those bands closer to the median?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure, I can answer that question.  I mean, what this enables us to do is to manage people within the band.  So as people leave a particular role and we hired somebody to replace them, then we could put them at a lower level, P50 or below.

Also, when we do merit increases, we will be looking very closely at where people are positioned in the band.  So if they are above P50 they would expect to receive very little, if any, merit increase.  But somebody below P50, based on performance, may see an increase.  So we can manage within the band both when people leave and during merit increase time.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So when the report says "any adjustment to target bonuses needed would be limited", what does that mean?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think it's referencing the LTIP program for band 5.  We have a very limited number of band 5s that are eligible for LTIP.  LTIP is mostly focused at our band 4, our vice-presidents and above.  I think that's what that's referring to.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And what is a feeder role?

MR. MCDONELL:  A feeder role would be, in this case, you point out to the band 7 role.  Quite often people moving into that role would come from the Society of Energy Professionals, so a unionized role, and that's probably one of the reasons why that band 7 is a little bit higher than P50, because they are coming from the unionized role and upon promotion they are going to get a little bit of an increase.

And a couple of years ago as well there were some hot jobs on the market, whether or not it was a finance person or an IT person.  And so when we recruited those people a few years ago they came in at the market rate.  Those markets have probably cooled down a little bit now, so we had to go higher, those same types of classifications.  They would not be placed that high up in the band.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I think I'll leave Towers Watson for now and just quickly ask a couple of questions about the Hugessen consulting report.  And really I just want to focus on the introduction, which is at really page 2, so the exhibit reference is Exhibit I-6-57, and I'm in attachment 1, and I'm at page 3, and there's a description there of outlining the new Hydro One.  So I would like to ask a few questions about that.

So the first question is, what does "expects to be a consolidator in the industry" mean?  What is that pointing to in terms of Hydro One's strategy over the next --


MR. MCDONELL:  Which point are you, sorry?  Understand --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Sorry, I'm in the second --


MR. MCDONELL:  -- Hydro One --


MS. BLANCHARD:  -- bullet under "our understanding of the new Hydro One".

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that's what that -- and I didn't write this report --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  -- but by reading what's in the parentheses I believe it's referring to the fact that we have an acquisition program where we have acquired a number of utilities over the last couple years, and we continue to -- part of our strategy to grow our business is look for other acquisitions.  I think that's what they referred to when they talked about being a consolidator.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So that's not a new strategy?  That's something that's ongoing from before the IPO?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would say both.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So in the -- if I was to talk about a before and after, in the after you would expect to see an increase in that type of activity?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm sorry, I really can't speak to that part of the strategy.  That's not part of my accountabilities.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think what may be helpful, just listening to the questions that are being asked here regarding clarifications of what a statement is found in a consultant's report, obviously this is an area of policy for strategy, overall strategy.  And we can -- and parties should know that Mr. Vels, the CFO of the company, will be appearing as a witness, and it strikes me these high-level strategy issues will be best answered by Mr. Vels, and so I would, you know, encourage you to have that type of discussion with Mr. Vels.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Is that this afternoon, the panel --


MR. NETTLETON:  No, this is at the hearing.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Okay.  Well, I'll save my questions about those -- of those questions for the hearing then.  And that will be it for me, thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Blanchard.

Mr. Harper?
Questions by Mr. Harper:

MR. HARPER:  Actually, I have a series of questions which -- the ones I had would be pre-filed with the Board on September 19th and sent to Hydro One as well.  And I was wondering, in the interests of time, and I know people are anxious to get to panel 2 this afternoon, whether Hydro One would be willing to basically undertake those questions -- undertake to answer those questions in writing, and then that would probably help expedite at least the process of going through panel 1?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, Mr. Blanchard (sic), we would undertake to provide you with written -- sorry, Mr. Harper --


MR. HARPER:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  I didn't know about that relationship.

MR. HARPER:  Neither did I.


[Laughter]

Okay.  No --


MR. NETTLETON:  We would undertake to make -- provide those --


MR. HARPER:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So was there anything further before I note the undertaking?

MR. HARPER:  No, not from my perspective.  So it's just a matter of -- the undertaking would be to respond in writing to the questions filed on September 19th.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And to be clear, those are the questions of the Vulnerable Energy Coalition Canada.  That will be Undertaking TCJ1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.7:  TO PROVIDE ANSWERS TO THE VECC QUESTIONS FILED SEPTEMBER 19.

MR. HARPER:  And I think apart from my colleague, Mr. Garner has just a couple questions on panel 1, and that should complete VECC's questions on this panel.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Mr. Garner.
Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Sorry, panel, I know you can only partially see me.  But I don't think that will detract from my questions or your answers.

I want to follow up this morning from some questions that were asked to you by Mr. Rubenstein.  One of the questions was with respect to the ROE's -- and this was BOMA 30 that he used as a reference.  And Mr. Rubenstein was trying to, I think, understand as I am what the 2016 returns might look like.

And your counsel interjected and made submissions on the availability of projections, based on you being a public issuer.  But as a public issuer, I understand that you also issue quarterly reports, and I understand your last quarterly report as an issuer was in August of this year.  Is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  I can confirm that, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Now, that's a public document.  Would you have any objection making that available as part of this proceeding?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Garner, the document is public, and so I'm not sure what value there is in having these witnesses produce the document.

MR. GARNER:  I'm asking for it to be put on the record in this proceeding so it can be referred to in this proceeding.

MR. NETTLETON:  We don't take exception with that.

MR. GARNER:  Just before that get that undertaking, just so I’ll be clear, I also understand generally with that document you issue a press release and I wonder if you put that press release in addition to the -- I think you give a slide deck, or something to that effect.  Could you put both those documents on the record?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Garner, I'll tell you what we will do.  We will put the documents that are filed on SEDAR that have been placed in the public domain and relating to the disclosure that Hydro One has made regarding the last reported quarter.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Nettleton, I want to see not what's put on SEDAR, since I don't know what that is.  I want to see the report that was issued as part of a teleconference that took place in August, and I would like to see the press release that was given out with that.

I know those are both public documents.  I think they’re easy and available.  So I'm being very specific; those are the two documents I want.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Garner, I really appreciate the fact that you're being specific, but I can't read minds.  So if you have the document available that was made public, then I think it would go a long way.

 But we would do our best to see what has been --


MR. GARNER:  I would like to ask your panel.  Do you know the documents I'm talking about?

MR. JODOIN:  Specifically right now, I do not know the specific document you're talking about.

MR. GARNER:  You don't know about the slide deck that you present as part of your quarterly review?  You're not aware of that document?  No?

MR. JODOIN:  At the present time, no, not specifically that you're talking about.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Garner, we're trying to be helpful here.  If there is something that has been placed with SEDAR -- SEDAR is the form in which disclosure happens regarding reporting requirements for public issuers -- we're happy to put that document from latest quarter forward.

If there is something more that has been placed on the public domain, we'll try and help you out with that.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  I think the panel has heard what I am a looking for, and I ask that they look into that, thanks.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking TCJ1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.8:  TO FILE THE LATEST QUARTERLY REPORT AND ASSOCIATED PRESS RELEASE

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  My next question has to do with – again it's a follow-up and, Mr. Nettleton, maybe you can help me because actually I was a little bit confused with your again interjection in this, and perhaps you can just help me understand this.

At Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, you were asked by Mr. Rubenstein for budgets in respect to the CCFS areas, and you raised an issue about materiality.  And just for my edification to understand where and how my client might wish to proceed, I understand the materiality threshold in filing guidelines the Board has determined is $3 million.  And I didn't really understand why then these areas wouldn't be material.

Perhaps you could just help me with the what you were trying to drive at, so I can understand why the budgets of these areas over 3 million would not be material.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Garner, I think my comments pertain to granularity.  And I think what you heard from Mr. Jodoin was that there are a number of groups that comprise the category descriptions that are found on the far left column.

And what I had understood Mr. Rubenstein to be asking was for the individual group business plans that have been prepared and feed up into the numbers that have been provided here.

And what I was having a debate with, and what the scope of my objection has been and continues to be, is the idea or notion that we are getting into a discussion and process intended to effectively audit the individual budgets of individual groups that feed up into these numbers.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Where I'm confused -- and I'm sure you can help me.  Where I'm confused is it seemed to me, and perhaps you see it differently, but it seemed to me when the Board made the $3 million materiality threshold, it anticipated precisely your concerns, in the sense that it didn’t want parties to get into matters below that materiality threshold.

So I was confused because that's the way I read the Board's materiality threshold, but you seem to be reading it differently.  I just wanted to understand how you're reading that differently than me.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, from the filing or from the filing requirements. I don't believe the issue is specific to individual budgets of individual groups within a corporation, within a transmitter, for example.

I think the wording is unless a different threshold applies to a specific section of these requirements, the default materiality thresholds are, and they're addressed.  And 3 million is one element that applies for transmitters with a transmission review requirement of more than 200 million.

So I'm not taking issue that the 3 million is applicable, but what I'm talking about here is the level of debate and process that is going to go into the purpose and nature of the material that we would be filing for individual groups relating to business plans for those groups that feed up into the totals that are shown here.

There has to be some level of reasonableness, in terms of what we are discussing and are going to discuss at the hearing.  We have provided that breakdown in a cogent material way, and we're hoping that is an appropriate way to address these issues.

If we're going to get into a debate about each individual group or each individual department, we are going to have a very, very lengthy hearing.

MR. GARNER:  At this point, I think the only person debating right now is yourself.  So let me ask the next question.

Why Mr. Rubenstein was curious about this, it seemed to me from -- and also we were curious about this, was the response about the business plans.  And I could be wrong and I'll look to the panel to help me with this.  The way I understood it was that there was no comprehensive business plan, but there were individual business plans to these functions.  And therefore, you would have documents related to those functions, but you wouldn't have a comprehensive one.

Is that a correct interpretation?

MR. HUBERT:  Mr. Garner, what we have is submissions by individual departments, that's what we're talking about, with their budgetary outlook for the planning period.  I think that's what you're talking about and that's what the discussion is.

MR. GARNER:  Then those do exist?

MR. HUBERT:  Well, they are submissions that are made to assemble the total envelopes that are in our application; they are the underlying numbers.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  That's very helpful.  Moving on, I wonder -- you did this last update and I wonder if you can help me as an undertaking, if you would see this as being reasonable.

At Exhibit C2, tab 1, and Exhibit C2, tab 2, there are a number of financial schedules that go to the application, and I’m wondering if you would undertake as part of the undertakings to give us an update to all of those schedules, to the extent they needed to be done, given that you've done the last little one.

I don't think all those schedules need to be updated. But it's not clear to me if they will have all the most recent information in it.

So I would look to you whether that even needs to be done, but if you could look at those schedules and to the extent they need to be updated, to update them.

MR. JODOIN:  So Exhibit C2, tab 2, Schedule 1, this page here is a summary of our OM&A, confirming that this is the schedule you were referencing?

MR. GARNER:  Well, I'm actually -- you'll notice there's a few others.  They follow in tab 2.  There is another table.  And in basically C2, both tabs in one, you list basically, as I understand it, pretty much the volume of your financial schedule, so to speak.  And what I'm -- really want to do is make sure that when -- when this is over, when the undertaking's done, we have the most recent numbers that you have and if you've made any changes, because you've made a few here.  Now, I suspect some of those will be minor and some of them may not even change, right?  So...

MR. JODOIN:  So consistent with the pension update that we discussed at the out front of here, we can update these.  It's...

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And so just that I'm clear -- and I apologize if I get this wrong, but you're seeking an update of the schedules that are found at Exhibit C2, tab 1 and C2, tab 2?

MR. GARNER:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Undertaking TCJ1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.9:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE OF THE SCHEDULES THAT ARE FOUND AT EXHIBIT C2, TAB 1 AND C2, TAB 2.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

I also understand, Mr. Nettleton, that Mr. Aiken is not available to attend.  He did provide written questions, and I would like to ask if you would undertake to provide your responses in writing to those questions on the record?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, we can take that undertaking.

MS. HELT:  All right.  That will be --


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Helt, I just want to go back -- sorry, I'll let you finish --


MS. HELT:  Oh, okay.  That will be Undertaking TCJ1.10, but, yes, go ahead.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.10:  TO PROVIDE WRITTEN ANSWERS TO MR. AIKEN'S QUESTIONS.

MR. NETTLETON:  I just want to go back to Mr. Garner, and I too want to try and help Mr. Garner, and I too want to be able to be clear with Mr. Garner as to the scope of the undertaking that was just given.

I want to be clear that what we are going to do is we are going to review the exhibit that you have discussed with the witnesses.  Where there are updates required then we will make those changes, but if the schedule isn't requiring an update, we're not going to update the schedule, obviously.  We're not going to reproduce the entire application.  It's only with respect to any changes.

MR. GARNER:  That's right.  And I even said if it's not material I wouldn't be in a decimal-point thing.  I'm not asking you to do the minor type of stuff.  Only if it's a material change.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you for that, Mr. Nettleton.  That clarification is helpful.

It's 12:25.  I suggest we go perhaps with one more and then we'll take a short break for lunch.  We're just trying to try and make sure that we get through all of panel 1, and as many people through panel 2 as possible today.

So Ms. Grice, I believe you have about 15 minutes or so?

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
Questions by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, panel.  My first question relates to AMPCO Interrogatory No. 1, and in this interrogatory we asked for some information regarding reports that your audit group has undertaken, and if you look at attachment 1 to the interrogatory, you provide a list of the audit reports that were undertaken in 2015, and I wondered if we could get a copy of one audit report in particular, and that's partway -- sort of a quarter down the page, entitled "investment planning".  It's report number 2014-29.  It seemed to me that some of the recommendations in that report are central to this application.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Grice, one of the issues with this is, I don't think anyone on this panel can deal with this, because it's again a matter relating to the investment plan.  And -- but we hear you, and I think the best that we can do at this stage is take note of it, try and find it, and perhaps deal with your question on panel 2.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's great.  Thank you.

If I had a question just regarding process related to your audit work, should that be saved for panel 2 as well?

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, I was --


MS. GRICE:  Oh, sorry.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, no, no, no.  Could you repeat your question?

MS. GRICE:  Sure.  I just have a question on part (b) of our interrogatory, and it was talking about an update process and points in time when you have emerging risks that may change the direction of your audit work.  And I wonder, can I ask my questions in this panel or should I save those for panel 2?

MR. NETTLETON:  I think it's going to depend on the precise nature of the questions --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- so why don't you go ahead and --


MS. GRICE:  I'll go ahead and ask, and then --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, okay.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  so in part (b) to our response you provide the scope of the work that's going to be done in 2016 and 2017, and in Part D of the response to our interrogatory you state that each year the audit plan is subject to change based on an annual update process, as well as emerging risks and requests from the board of directors and senior management.

So my first question was, at what time do you do your annual update of your audit plan?  So for instance, for 26 (sic), when is that work done -- 2016, sorry.

MR. NETTLETON:  So Ms. Grice, I think the trouble is -- or the challenge that we have is that we don't have the right people here to answer that question.  So perhaps we could do this by way of undertaking?

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay.  That's great.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  So we'll note that as Undertaking TCJ1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.11:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON WHEN THE ANNUAL UPDATE IS DONE ON THE AUDIT PLANS AND IF ANY EMERGING RISKS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED THAT WOULD IMPACT THE 2016 AND 2017 AUDIT PLANS.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And just to clarify, so it's to provide information on when the audit plan is -- when the annual update is done on the audit plans and if any emerging risks have been identified that would impact the 2016 and 2017 audit plans.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

Okay.  My next question relates to AMPCO 20 -- 66.  And we asked a question regarding Hydro One's budgeted overtime and actual overtime for the years 2010 to 2016.  And in part (a) we the response indicates that overtime dollars are incorporated into standard labour rates.  And I just -- I guess I'm having trouble relating that to my question, and I just wonder, like, do you have the actual budgeted dollars by year and the actuals by year?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, could you just repeat your question one more time?

MS. GRICE:  What I'm looking for is, I would think that on an annual basis Hydro One budgets overtime dollars, and so what I'm looking for is historically, from the years 2010 to 2016 and for, I guess, '17 and '18, what your budgeted dollars would be, but I'm looking for the historical years, your budgeted overtime dollars compared to what your actuals were.

MR. JODOIN:  So from a budget perspective it's difficult to pull that data, because our work program is costed through standard labour rates, so Exhibit C-1-5-1 actually discusses the costing of work.  And part of an employee's burden is an overtime allowance.  So compiling a direct budget, we don't have the data right now.  With actuals --


MR. MCDONELL:  Actuals -- historical actuals, we would have year-end overtime actuals, yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Could I get the actuals then for the historical years?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  So Undertaking TCJ1.12, to provide for the years 2010 to 2016 the actual year-end dollar amounts for overtime.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.12:  TO PROVIDE FOR THE YEARS 2010 TO 2016 THE ACTUAL YEAR-END DOLLAR AMOUNTS FOR OVERTIME.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Just to probe this a little further, do you have OEB-approved overtime hours?  Is that data that you have readily available?

MR. HUBERT:  To my knowledge, we do not have anything like that.

MS. GRICE:  Let me just think about this another way.  Do you budget total overtime hours and then track actual overtime hours?  Forget the dollars, but would you be able to provide it that way?

Say you budget 500 hours in 2012, but you used 450; do you have that type of data?

MR. JODOIN:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Jodoin -- sorry, I’m getting confused here.

Ms. Grice, I think what you heard Mr. Jodoin say was that as part of the normal budgeting process, there is a component for overtime as part of that budget, that number.

The difficulty is extracting only that aspect out and reporting on the budget for each employee for overtime -- at least that's what I heard Mr. Jodoin say -- and if I'm wrong, then please clarify, Mr. Jodoin.

But that's the problem with extracting what would -- the type of comparison that you're looking for of budget to actuals.

MS. GRICE:  Well, could you tell me then how, I guess, that number is attributable for each employee?  Do you allocate a certain number or certain percentage of hours per employee?  Because just the way you're describing it to me, it doesn't help me.  I don't really understand.  I can't get a sense of what your overtime budgets look like.

MR. NETTLETON:  Maybe it would be helpful just to have an explanatory of the standard labour rate and how it's used.  I think that’s really what you're asking.

MR. JODOIN:  Right.  So in a standard labour rate, a typical cost of an employee would be built up using various items; their base salary, their pension allowances, and allowances for overtime.

If you're asking are there a set of assumptions that go into deriving that overtime allowances, I don't have them with me, no.  But yes, there would be some logic towards building those up.

MS. GRICE:  Could we get that information?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could just ask a follow-up.  On C1, tab 4, schedule 1, attachment 1, you're forecasting overtime dollars.  So how are you doing that?

MR. MCDONELL:  C1, tab 4, schedule 1?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm glad you pointed that out.  I was going to mention that this table does show overtime hours.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, that's dollars.

MR. MCDONELL:  Dollars, you're correct.  But it's for year end only, so all employees on payroll on December 31st, it captures their overtime.  But it might not capture – it would not capture any overtime for people not on payroll on the 31st of December.

So this does give you an indication what the trending of overtime is.  Maybe that's sufficient to answer your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just then generally, these charts that you provide, it shows where it says total wages, say, for 2013, which is on the screen, of 719 million, that is only for employees who are employed at the end of the year? That's not your actual total that will have been spent in that year?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  And that is how we've displayed this table as long as I've been coming here, and it's also for the distribution and transmission businesses together.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  I just wanted to confirm.

MR. MCDONELL:  But perhaps the -- I'm not sure if you have that exhibit in front of you, but maybe that will answer the question and save the undertaking, as the overtime dollars for historical and go-forward are there. But again, they're for year-end compensation.

MS. HELT:  Just to be clear, there was already an undertaking given with respect to the actual 2010 to 2016 overtime hours and dollars.  Is this the undertaking you're speaking to?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's what I'm speaking to.

MS. HELT:  That was noted as TCJ1.12. I’m not sure, Ms. Grice.  Would that chart satisfy that undertaking, or that table, or would you still like the undertaking and then review it?

MS. GRICE:  If I could, please.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So the undertaking stands.  There was also a second undertaking that was just given that I missed because there was the -- Mr. Rubenstein put forward the chart.  I believe you had asked something else.

MS. GRICE:  It was the assumptions that go into coming up with the standard labour rate, the overtime component of that.

MS. HELT:  And an undertaking was given to provide that, is that correct?  Yes?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So that then will be TCJ1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.13:  TO ADVISE THE OVERTIME COMPONENT IN THE ASSUMPTIONS THAT GO INTO COMING UP WITH THE STANDARD LABOUR RATE

MS. GRICE:  My next question relates to load forecasting and if we can just go to Exhibit E1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 13?

MR. ANDRE:  We have the exhibit up.

MS. GRICE:  Figure 3 is showing the 20-year trend, and I wonder if you would undertake to update this figure to include the data that you have for 2016.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  For 2016?  Of course, the year is not ended yet, but -- we don't have it.

MS. GRICE:  But you have, you know -- we're in Q3.  You’ve got half a year’s worth of data.  Would you be able to just extend the trend line for the data that you have?  Sorry, I guess we're in Q4.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  All the numbers provided are a full year, but the last one would become, if we put it, you know, would be something like three quarters.

MS. GRICE:  That would be great.

MR. ANDRE:  It wouldn't be apple to apple comparison. You would be seeing numbers for a full year, and then you’d have a last data point that really only represents three quarters of a year.

MS. GRICE:  And that's what we're looking for.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking TCJ1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.14:  TO UPDATE FIGURE 3, EXHIBIT E1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 13 WITH DATA FOR 2016

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  My next question relates to CME number 16.

MR. ANDRE:  We have that up.

MS. GRICE:  In this interrogatory, CME was asking questions about the network service charge and customers that are charged outside the 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. period.  And part A, if you turn the page, you provide the number of times annually that this has occurred.

I wondered if you could undertake to provide the revenue that corresponds to the number of times annually that this has occurred.

MR. ANDRE:  Which revenue?  I'm not clear what revenue you'd be looking for.

MS. GRICE:  I believe the customer's revenue changes as a result of having their peak outside the 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. period.  So they would have had to pay more during the time that their peak occurred, and it's a revenue impact for those customers.

And I wondered if you could provide what the total revenue impact to customers is of having their peak occur outside the 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. period.

MR. ANDRE:  The transmission charges are levied by IESO, so it would be IESO sending individual customers their bill.  What we get from the IESO is simply the total revenue that is allocated to Hydro One based on the allocation share that's in the UTR rate schedule.

So we wouldn't have information on what the customers are paying – yes, what the customers are paying for transmission.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. HELT:  Thank you Ms. Grice.  I'm aware of the time.  I understand we still have Board Staff that I think has one or two questions.  PW, Mr. Stephenson, how long do you think you'll be?  It was 15 minutes was what you estimated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Two minutes.

MS. HELT:  Two minutes?  All right.  Anwaatin?

MR. FERGUSON:  Probably about five to ten minutes.

MS. HELT:  Five to ten minutes.  And then SEP?

MR. DUMKA:  Could be about 45.

MS. HELT:  45 minutes.  All right.  So why don't I propose this --


DR. HIGGIN:  We're still here.

MS. HELT:  Oh, I'm sorry, Roger.  I don't have you on my list.  How long do you think you'll be?

DR. HIGGIN:  [Speaking off-mic]  I think I told you in the e-mail that it would be...

--- Reporter appeals.

DR. HIGGIN:  I told you in the e-mail for this panel it could be up to an hour, I think now 45 minutes for this panel.

MS. HELT:  All right.  I didn't have you noted.

And Julie?

MS. GIRVAN:  [Speaking off-mic]  15 to 20.

MS. HELT:  15 to 20.  Okay.  SO we're going to run into some time problems in terms of getting through all of panel 1 and 2 today.  Certainly we're not going to get through panel 2.  So we'll just deal with that as it happens.

So why don't we just deal with the ones who have two or three minutes first.  Then we'll take a 45-minute lunch break, come back, and proceed.  Is that all right with everybody?  Yeah, okay.  So Mr. Stephenson?
Questions by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, panel.  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.  I only have really one question, and this is dealing with the Brookfield outsourcing contract that's referenced at Exhibit C1, tab 3, Schedule 2.  You don't need to turn it up.

I'm just looking to find what Hydro One's annual cost is under that agreement.  You've indicated it started in 2015, so I was hoping I can get 2015 plus forecast for '16 and the test years.  Can I get that undertaking?

MR. NETTLETON:  We need to get the exhibit up first.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, you don't.  It's -- you don't -- actually, you don't.  Come on.  I mean, there's an outsourcing agreement.  I'm just asking for the cost of the agreement.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just interject?  I think it's set out in CCC --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Is it?

MS. GIRVAN:  -- number 16.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fantastic.  Why don't you pull that up.

Great.  Fantastic.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Is that it, Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Oh.  I said I had one question.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  No, I know.  I just didn't know if there would be anything else that came to mind.  I didn't want you to lose your opportunity.

All right then.  And the gentleman from Anwaatin.
Questions by Mr. Ferguson:

MR. FERGUSON:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Cary Ferguson.  I'm here on behalf of Anwaatin.

Just a couple of questions for you today related to two of your responses to our interrogatories, specifically numbers 2 and 4.  I believe those to be directed towards Mr. Andre.  So let's get this up here.

So if you look at the bottom of page 2 of your interrogatory response here, you have a table --


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, you mentioned two interrogatories.

MR. FERGUSON:  Sorry, Interrogatory No.2.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.

MR. FERGUSON:  Page 2, we have a table, "typical Hydro One First Nations R1 and R2 residential customer bill impacts in Northern Ontario", and we have three energy usage categories here for each of those for R1 and R2, being 500 kilowatt hours, 1,150 kilowatt hours, and 2,300 kilowatt hours, those corresponding to low usage, typical usage, and high usage; is that correct?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And I was just hoping you could walk me through this a little bit here.

How did you determine kind of those categories or thresholds we might call them?  Where are those numbers coming from?

MR. ANDRE:  Those numbers are based on 2015 consumption data for customers that are identified as being on a -- have a premise address within our billing system as a First Nations.

MR. FERGUSON:  Great.  And would you be able to kind of just give me a broad overview or perhaps as an undertaking to look into it how many of each -- of customers fall into each of those categories as a percentage?  If you don't have it today, that --


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, no, I don't have that information with me, but, yes, that's something we could undertake to provide.

MR. FERGUSON:  Great.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So we'll note that as Undertaking TCJ1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.15:  TO TALK ABOUT THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS WITHIN THE R1 AND R2 POPULATION IN THE FIRST TABLE, AND THEN THE NUMBER OF R1 CUSTOMERS THAT ARE REFERENCED IN THE SECOND TABLE.

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.

And then turning to page 3 of your response to interrogatory 2, the table there, we have typical Hydro One residential customer bill impacts in southern Ontario with 400 kilowatt hours, 900 kilowatt hours, and 1,850 kilowatt hours for low, typical, and high; that's correct?

MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.

MR. FERGUSON:  And is it safe to say that those calculations or those determinations are made in the same way as the table on the previous page?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, so it would be all customers in our R1 residential class within the specific operating areas that we would consider to be southern Ontario.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And so -- and then how did you determine those kind of low, typical, and high categories?

MR. ANDRE:  It's again based on 2015 consumption, and the low is the tenth percentile value, the typical is the average value, and the high is the ninetieth percentile value.

MR. FERGUSON:  And do those percentiles also apply to the chart on the previous page?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And perhaps you can do this by undertaking again.  Would you be able to provide the percentages of customers that fall into -- or I guess each of those categories?

MR. ANDRE:  Oh, okay.  So just backing up then, on the previous undertaking we just took, when you said "those categories" I thought you meant R1 and R2.  If you meant can we identify the number of customers that are -- well, 500 is not a category.  It is a threshold.

MR. FERGUSON:  By definition 10 percent would be below that.

MR. ANDRE:  Right.

MR. FERGUSON:  Right.

MR. ANDRE:  Right.  So we can certainly tell you the number of customers that make up that population on which those -- on which those numbers are derived, but there isn't a number that is 400, there isn't a number of customers that are at 900 --


MR. FERGUSON:  Sorry, I misunderstood that, that that was on a percentile basis.  So if we could maybe amend the undertaking then to --


MR. ANDRE:  Simply just identify the number of customers that's within that population.

MR. FERGUSON:  That would be great.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Okay.  That's what I was intending to provide.  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So TCJ1.15 will then be made more specific to talk about the percentage of customers within that population.

MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, the number of customers within the R1 and R2 population --


MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. ANDRE:  -- in the first table, and then the number of R1 customers that are referenced in the second table.

MS. HELT:  So we'll make those both as part of TCJ1.15.

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  Thank you.  Perfect.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. FERGUSON:  And then if I could turn your attention, you referenced Exhibit H1, tab 5, Schedule 1, that is determined using the same approach as in Table 3 in that exhibit, if we could pull that up.

And so here we have -- do you have that before you?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I have that.

MR. FERGUSON:  So here we have some slightly different energy usage numbers.  We have 350 kilowatt hours, 750 kilowatt hours, and 1,800 kilowatt hours, and this is for a typical medium-density R1 residential customer bill impact.

And I was just wondering why we have the different energy usages there in the numbers compared to the second table in your response to Anwaatin Interrogatory No.2.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, the numbers that -- the consumption numbers that you see in Table 3 are the low, typical, and high values that have been used as the ranges in submissions to the Board, so it's not based on 2015, it's based on 2014 year, 2014 data.  It includes all R1 residential customers, not just southern Ontario or northern Ontario.  And then the middle number, the 750, is a Board prescribed number as the typical consumption that they want to see impacts for from all distributors, so the 750 is just the number that we use for typical, but the high and low numbers are from 2014 data for all R1 customers.

MR. FERGUSON:  And so the high and low numbers would also correspond to ninetieth and tenth percentile as well?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, ninetieth and tenth, yes.

MR. FERGUSON:  I'm trying to figure out all these numbers and put them together here.  Do you have a sense of what the maximum, the 99th percentile might be for R1 and R2 customers without access to natural gas for heating, so they’re – they don’t have that available to them?

I understand you probably don't have this off the top of your head.

MR. ANDRE:  And I'm not sure -- you're asking two separate things.  Like the 99th number would be something very specific.  In any given year, you could have a particular customer that would have high consumption for any number of reasons, so that’s the 99th then.

And then you talked about electrically heated; we wouldn't have -- our billing system wouldn't be able to distinguish the customers that have a specific heating source.

MR. FERGUSON:  Just looking at the tables again in the response to Anwaatin number 2, there is a note that these figures are calculated per approved 2016 DTRs.

Would you be able to undertake to recalculate them using the projected 2017-2018 numbers?

MR. ANDRE:  I'll turn that up.  So what you see – essentially, that's with a the remainder of the table provides you.  So what you're seeing for the ‘17 and ‘18 rows are the net increase on those bills as a result of what's applied for in this application.

So take the R1 residential customer, for example, at 1150.  We're saying that this application on their $255 bill will increase that bill by 51 cents is the effect of this application.

So the change for ‘17 and ‘18 in terms of what we're requesting here is already included in the table.

MR. FERGUSON:  And you have here the 2017 increase calculated as a percentage of total bill.  Would you also be able to calculate its percentage -- the increase as percentage of the RTSR for each year, for 2017 and 2018?

MR. ANDRE:  As a percentage of the RTSR?  So that is the basis on which those numbers are -- so the percentage of RTSR, what we used, if you go back to the H1 exhibit -- if we bring up the H1 exhibit, what we're using here is the net impact of average transmission rates.

So the impact of this application, which here in this evidence is 3.7 and 5.4.  But as Mr. Hubert said, we have an update to that, and those numbers now are 4.2 percent and 5.2 percent.  Those are the percentages that will be applied to the RTSR; that's how we derive that table, by applying these percentage increases to the RTSR.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, thank you.  If we can turn to Anwaatin number 4, and then specifically the table on page 2?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, we're there.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, great.  So I have the same question as before.  This figure, 1150 kilowatt hours per month, where does this figure come from?

MR. ANDRE:  So for the purpose of this chart, we simply used the same average consumption that was being used in the -- from are the previous chart.  In the previous chart for both R1 and R2 customers, we used 1150 as a typical consumption amount.  So we just used that same number for the purpose of this chart.

MR. FERGUSON:  So that would apply then to the First Nations identifier?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, pulling the data for the specific First Nations -- and in some case, Nipigon, Geraldton, and Beardmore are communities -- the data was, you know, providing somewhat mixed results because it's hard to ensure you're capturing every single customer in that community by going to the premise address.

These average consumption values, when you’re dealing with large groups of customers, are fairly reliable.  When you start to zero-in on specific communities, you start to be concerned that you're capturing all customers in that community.

So for the purpose of this chart, and given that as the previous response showed, Mr. Ferguson, the impact of this transmission application -- I know these IRs were focused on distribution, so I would just point you to the fact that the impact of this transmission application on these end bills are in the range of .2 to .3 percent, depending on the consumption level.

So for the purpose of getting an approximate value of what delivery charges would be in the case of Anwaatin, number 4, we used 1150 as a reasonable number.

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  I also noticed you have an asterisk for the cost line losses, and it says that this is based on TOU, time of use, prices for electricity.

Can you unpack the calculation there?  Is it based on the highest rate, average rate, lowest rate?  How are you making that calculation?

MR. ANDRE:  Right.  So if it's based on time of use, it breaks up the -- it's the average cost for the various time of use periods.  So I believe it's 65 percent at the high and then – sorry, no.  It's based on the Board's percentage is for how much typical consumption is at the high peak and the mid peak and the low period.

 I don't have the percentages off the top of my head, but they are the same numbers that are available on the OEB's website.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And then one final question.  In the response to B here, just the last little chart there, same question again with the 900 kilowatt hours.  Is that the same methodology we’ve seen in the previous --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, we just pulled the same 900 kilowatt consumption from the previous IR.

MR. FERGUSON:  Great.  Thank you very much.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  I understand that Board Staff, Mr. Rosicky, has one question.  So why don't we go with that, and then we’re going to take a break for lunch.  Mr. Rosicky?
Questions by Mr. Rosicky:

MR. ROSICKY:  Thank you.  Mark Rosicky, representing Board Staff.

My question is it specifically in regards to the December 31, 2015, tax return that was filed with the Board in, I believe, early August.  The question specifically pertains to schedule 4 of hat return, the tax loss carry forwards.

 I don't think you need to pull it up.  The schedule itself indicates there's approximately 222 million in tax loss carried forwards as at December 31st.  I’m just wondering, as per the Board methodology in terms of calculating the PILs requires the use of tax loss carry forwards.

Can you clarify as to where in the PILs calculations these losses get utilized and, if they're excluded, why exclusion is appropriate?  Thanks.

MR. NETTLETON:  So regrettably, one of the challenges we've been facing with the technical conference is the limitation of witnesses.  There is not anyone on this panel that is in the tax area.  We will be having witnesses at the hearing to address questions of taxation, so perhaps we can answer your question by way of undertaking.  Would that be okay?

MR. ROSICKY:  That’s fine with me, thanks.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking TCJ1.16.  
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.16:  TO CLARIFY AS TO WHERE IN THE PILS CALCULATIONS THESE LOSSES GET UTILIZED AND, IF THEY'RE EXCLUDED, WHY EXCLUSION IS APPROPRIATE

MS. HELT:  So it's one o'clock now.  Why don't we take a break until quarter to two, and then we'll come back.  From my estimation, we have between an hour and a half to an hour and forty-five minutes left for panel 1, and then we will move right into panel 2 with those people who cannot attend tomorrow morning at – or tomorrow while the OPG technical conference is proceeding going first.

All right?  So take a break until quarter to two.  Thank you.
--- Lunch recess taken at 1:01 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:54 p.m.

MS. HELT:  Welcome back, everyone.  I think we can get started.  Everybody is ready?  Yes.  Okay.

There were some discussions over the lunch break with how best to proceed today to make best use of the time to ensure that parties who aren't available tomorrow for part of the day, or the least the morning, are able to get some questions in on panel 2 today.

So Mr. Higgins and Board Staff do have questions for panel 1, but these questions will be asked tomorrow of panel 1, and Mr. Nettleton has agreed that his witness panel, panel 1, has kindly agreed to make themselves available tomorrow to finish the remainder of the questions on panel 1, so I very much appreciate that, and would like to thank you myself personally for the accommodation with respect to that.

So then what we will do now is proceed with Ms. Girvan's questions on panel 1, to be followed by SEP, and then we can commence with panel 2.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just to start, panel, I just wanted to follow up, and I was a bit confused about the discussion regarding overtime.  So what I'm trying to understand is a couple of things, and maybe you can help me with this.

How do you set your overtime budgets?  So how do you determine how much to include in your budgets specifically related to overtime?

MR. JODOIN:  I believe that was part of the undertaking that we're going to derive what's built up in the standard labour rate and how we come up with the overtime component in that rate --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  -- and that should address your question.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I guess second part to that is, how do you track your actual overtime costs?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can deal with that.  Well, in a number of ways.  Let me start off by saying that, you know, first of all, overtime is not discretionary.  An employee before the -- he or she works overtime would have to get approval to work overtime.  They put their overtime hours on time sheets.  Those time sheets are approved.  Managers have access to business intelligence reporting that we have within our SAP structure, that they can download reports on their overtime at any given time, so managers do monitor overtime.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank --


MR. MCDONELL:  Does that answer your question?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I think so.  Thank you.

Okay.  I'm referring specifically to the interrogatories that we posed, the Consumers' Council of Canada, and they're under tab 13, just if Ms. Henderson can pull those up.

So the first is number 6.  And it's CCC number 6.  So I just wanted to follow up, and there was some discussion about this earlier, is you've stated a few times that your strategic planning process is not complete, and I don't think anybody asked you when you expect it to be completed and when a plan will be in place.

MR. HUBERT:  So Ms. Girvan, we actually don't have -- I can't give you a definitive date for a completion of a strategic plan.  The way we're operating now, this strategy continues to evolve with Hydro One.  It is -- strategic planning is an ongoing cycle leading to annual budgets and business plans, but there is no plan to have a strategic plan actually issued.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

So if you can please turn to CCC number 9, and the question was about productivity and how you built productivity into your budgets.  So I just wondered if you could help me understand that.  You have an example there, and I'm not sure I understand how those numbers are derived, and also, just overall, can you help me with how you built productivity into your budgets for each department?

MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  So from a planning perspective, as we -- each business unit puts forward its work programs and plans.  It incorporates certain productivity initiatives, and they roll up into these total corporate budgets.

However, what you have here is a number of examples relating, for example, to the procurement area, construction.  So these are specific initiatives that each business unit is undertaking to derive those productivity savings in its area.

MS. GIRVAN:  So for example, it says "equipment rentals 1.31 million".  What does that mean?  Does that mean that in this particular category there is a reduction of 1.31 million relative to 2016?  I'm not sure what exactly the 1.31 --


MR. HUBERT:  Yeah, these are savings resulting from specific initiatives related to equipment rentals; that's correct.  And I don't have much more detail at the work program level that I can offer, but we will have witnesses who can speak to each area.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So is there anywhere in the evidence a breakdown of all of the productivity numbers that you've built into your budgets?

MR. HUBERT:  I don't believe there is anything more detailed than this, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that something that you can produce?

MR. HUBERT:  I don't believe I can, no.  A lot of these are actually embedded in the work program budgets.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Girvan, just to be clear -- and perhaps I misunderstood or misheard -- I think what you said was costs associated with the example, equipment rentals, and I just want to be clear that what that chart is depicting are the savings in equipment rentals year-over-year.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Relative to what?

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  So I can't answer that, but that's maybe what Mr. Hubert can answer.

MR. HUBERT:  So these would be, I believe, annual year-over-year reductions, cost reductions in each area.

MS. GIRVAN:  Again, how were those numbers derived?

MR. HUBERT:  They would be derived by the appropriate business unit into the specific initiative.  So there are actually -- each business unit has identified work program initiatives to reduce costs, whether through improved procurement, better scheduling processes, work program improvements to reduce costs.  Once they identify these, then they tag them as a potential cost saving that's embedded in the work program.

MS. GIRVAN:  And we can't get a list of those?

MR. HUBERT:  I do not have a full list of that, so that's something that maybe we may be able to pursue through the actual hearing.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, are you asking -- when you say "a list of those", can you just clarify what --


MS. GIRVAN:  So what I'm looking at is a list of productivity initiatives and the savings that result from those initiatives that are embedded in the 2017 and '18 budgets.

Maybe I can help in one respect, is I believe that in the Hydro One distribution case that there were forecasts, productivity initiatives, set out in the plan.  And I was looking for a similar type of analysis for '17 and '18 with respect to transmission.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  So I guess what I'm struggling with is, are you -- we've listed the categories of initiatives:  The equipment rentals, general hardware, construction services, construction materials.

MS. GIRVAN:  You've listed examples.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  So to be clear, what you're asking for is all of the productivity initiatives?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  So I think the best we can do at this stage is we can check to see whether we have that information.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That would be helpful.

MS. TAYLOR:  Hi, Julie.  Karen Taylor.  We know what you want, and we know what the distribution application said, so the methodology or approach that Hydro One used in distribution with sort of an avoided cost approach and see what our savings were, that did not resonate with anybody, quite frankly, and it was specifically addressed by the Board in the decision as an inappropriate way to address the subject matter of productivity.  So when we approached this application, it was identify a work process innovation process changes in the business, the lines of business very granular to come up with productivity initiatives, and then as those initiatives could be quantified, then to bake them into the revenue requirement ask, and do so in as granular a manner as possible.

So the difficulty is that you're talking about really, really granular stuff.  It's 100,000 here or there spread through a number of different places.  Again, this work is along a spectrum of being done, and I would say that we're probably closer to the beginning of that spectrum as opposed to being at the end of the process.

So what we have reflected in terms of productivity and been able to provide as examples is about as granular as we can get, and the specific examples that have affected or have been reflected in the 2017 and 2018 revenue requirement request are the ones that are making a difference -- if I can put it that way.

I'm not sure that helps, but the approach here is really to identify very specific actions, because of what the Board found about how we presented productivity in the distribution system application the last time did not resonate.  So we're trying do it far more specifically this time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you provide a list of the more meaningful productivity initiatives, the ones that you're projecting that are going to bring the greatest savings for the company?

MR. HUBERT:  I think we would be able to provide perhaps more examples.   I think that's what we might be able to do, and I think there were -- I'm actually looking for the evidence where we actually included something on that.  I don't have it at my fingertips.

So what we could do is just provide some more examples.  But they are -- as Ms. Taylor points out, these are actually reflected in the unit cost projections.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Have you anywhere in the evidence provided sort of -- well, not sort of -- provided an aggregate number of productivity initiatives?


MR. HUBERT:  The 6 and 9 million dollars that are in the interrogatory you've referred to are the aggregates here.

MS. GIRVAN:  Those are the aggregates?

MR. HUBERT:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I got a sense that these were just examples.  Maybe you could take that away and check?


MR. HUBERT:  Will do.

MS. HELT:  To be clear for the record, Julie, what you want is to have a clarification with respect to whether or not the amounts shown at Exhibit B, tab T-1 – B2, T1, S1 are amounts that are just examples, or if they're amounts in aggregate?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, or if the numbers in CCC number 9, under capital and OM&A, constitute the entire set of productivity initiative savings that you're projecting within your budgets.

MR. HUBERT:  Okay, we'll do both.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Was there also an undertaking to provide a list of additional examples of productivity initiatives?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, that would be useful.

MS. HELT:  All right, than you – sorry, I forgot to give it a number.  TCJ1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.17:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER OR NOT THE AMOUNTS SHOWN AT EXHIBIT B, TAB T-1 – B2, T1, S1 ARE AMOUNTS THAT ARE JUST EXAMPLES, OR IF THEY'RE AMOUNTS IN AGGREGATE; TO PROVIDE A LIST OF ADDITIONAL EXAMPLES OF PRODUCTIVITY INITIATIVES


MS. GIRVAN:  And as  said, if the examples are the larger initiatives, that would be helpful.  Thank you.

So if we could please turn to – well, actually this one has been covered off.  No, actually CCC 11, please.  And this is about the short-term incentive payments and I was wondering -- I know that in a subsequent interrogatory response, which is CCC 22, you've provided documentation related to the short-term and long-term incentive plans.  And I just wondered if we can have an example of those as they relate to the senior executives.

MR. MCDONELL:  You mean like a vice-president?

MS. GIRVAN:  Or CEO.

MR. MCDONELL:  When you say give an example, you mean like the weighting?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do you have that anywhere in the evidence?

MR. MCDONELL:  I'll see if I can help you here.  I don't know -- a band 3, which is an EVP at Hydro One, they -- I'm not sure how familiar you are with our S-TIP program, but it rewards for short-term performance, and everybody -- each individual would have both a team or a corporate component as well as individual component and, depending on the band, there's a certain percentage of their base rate.


So for a band 3, so a fairly senior EVP, the weighting is 80 percent team efforts or results and 20 percent individual, and the S-TIP percentage is 40 percent.  What you can take from that is the more senior you are within the organization, the greater weight will be corporate versus individual.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And the corporate metric would be something like net income?


MR. MCDONELL:  It would be the balanced scorecard, which net income is part of it, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  The scorecard that you filed in response to the filing requirements?

MR. HUBERT:  The scorecard would be the -- from presentation day, you will remember Mr. Vels showed a corporate scorecard that is the basis for the compensation and risk for Hydro One.


MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.  If you could please turn to CCC 14?  Is this the right panel to talk about the research, development and demonstration projects?

MR. HUBERT:  No, it is not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Who would that be?


MR. HUBERT:  I think we may be able to address these in panel 2.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.  And then in CCC number 16, this is with respect to the Brookfield global integrated solutions contract.

Now, if I look at the bottom of the page, it says the projected net savings as a result of the contract are estimated to be 14.9 percent to Hydro One's base cost after net present value adjustment.  And then it refers to cost savings in excess of 80 million over the ten-year term.

Could you help me understand what the 14.9 percent is?  I can read the words, but I'm not sure I understand how that was calculated.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Girvan, this is an area of procurement and the witness is shown to be Mr. Snider.  I think the best thing we can do here is take an undertaking to that effect.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  That would be to explain --


MR. NETTLETON:  How had the 14.9 percent.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- how the 14.9 and the 80 million dollars are calculated.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So that will be undertaking TCJ1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.18:  TO EXPLAIN HOW THE 14.9 AND THE 80 MILLION DOLLARS ARE CALCULATED


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  So if I turn to Consumers Council of Canada number 18, please, these are costs related to the board of directors.  Can you explain to me why there is a significant increase as of 2015 and on through the term of the forecasted 2016, ‘17 and ‘18?

MR. JODOIN:  So this is in line with the increase in compensation that was discussed in I 412.  So board compensation has gone up relative to the 2015 year.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Has it gone up because board members are being paid more, or has it gone up because there's more board members?  Or is it a combination?

MR. JODOIN:  I would have to check that.  The paid more, yes.  The number of board members, I'm not – no, it would not be significantly different.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now if you could please turn to CCC number 19.  We asked in this interrogatory for the detailed budget related to corporate relations in 2017 and ‘18.  And that wasn't provided in the response, and I was wondering if you could provide a detailed budget for corporate relations.

MR. JODOIN:  So to understand the specific request, if we could refer to C-1-3-3.  Do you want the specific departmental budgets?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  So it says "corporate relations", and in 2016 it's 17.5 and then 17.3 and 19.4.  Could you give me the 17.3 and 19.4, the budgets specifically used to derive those numbers?  So it's the budgets for that function.

MR. JODOIN:  Well, that is the budget for the function, for the corporate relations group --


MS. GIRVAN:  And I would like to understand more detail behind those numbers.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Ms. Girvan, this sort of takes us back to where we were with Mr. Rubenstein asking for the business plans associated with the individual departments that are underneath this heading.

Are you asking for that, or are you asking for something different?

MS. GIRVAN:  No, I'm asking not for the documents Mr. Rubenstein was asking for.  I'm just looking at more detail so that I can assess whether I think that corporate relations budget is reasonable, and when we have a cost-of-service proceeding that's what we do.

MR. NETTLETON:  I understand cost-of-service proceedings.  And so it's -- what I'm hearing you ask us to undertake is to provide the manner in which the budget estimate was derived.

MS. GIRVAN:  And the details underlying that budget, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  We will undertake to provide you information as much as we can.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  TCJ1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.19:  TO PROVIDE THE MANNER IN WHICH THE BUDGET ESTIMATE WAS DERIVED AND DETAILS UNDERLYING THAT BUDGET.

MS. GIRVAN:  And I'll just highlight, I think, the importance of this, is at times there's certain costs that we may see within the context of a budget like this that we don't think are appropriately recovered from ratepayers.  And so in order for us to make an argument along those lines we would like to see the details.

Please turn to CCC number 21.  Now, this was with respect to the Willis Towers Watson and the -- is it Hugessen -- Consulting Engagements.  And I just wondered why the Willis Towers Watson was not subject to a formal RFP process.  It says that you spoke to other consulting companies, but I had assumed that Hydro One is required under corporate policy to issue RFPs for this type of work.

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm not a procurement expert, so I can't tell you what those policies are, but I believe in this particular case there is a bit of a sense of urgency to get these studies completed, not enough time to go through a formal RFP, but that's why we reached out to two other consulting firms to get an assessment of the cost and the timing for which it would take them to complete a study, and the decision was made to go with Towers Watson.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Girvan, one other thing is -- that may help you with your answer is that the report was provided and requested by the board of governors -- or, sorry, board of directors.  And so I think it was in that light that the report was retained or the consultants were retained.  Is that not right?

MS. GIRVAN:  I see some head-shaking.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm sorry, we're talking about Towers.  Thank you.  I'm sorry, I misspoke.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

If you could turn to CCC 24, please.  And here we refer to the Black & Veatch study, and we had asked for the cost of that study, and I don't see that here.

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.  The cost of the study was not supplied.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you provide that?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, we can undertake to provide that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.20:  TO PROVIDE THE COST OF THE BLACK & VEATCH STUDY.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you please turn to CCC 25, please.  Okay.  So I just -- I wanted to ask about sustaining O&M, and I think one of your -- is this the right panel, or should be the capital panel?

MR. JODOIN:  Next panel would be in a better position to speak to that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Then we have Mr. Dumka.
Questions by Mr. Dumka:

MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.  Hello, panel.  I'm Bohdan Dumka.  I'm here for the Society of Energy Professionals, and all the questions I have will be on the Society IRs, so that would be tab 8.  And the first one I want to ask about is number 1, the first Society IR.

In this IR we just asked if there was an error in the -- in two discussions with regards to the actuarial study on pension costs.  And so the response was for both of them, yes, the excerpted statements should be revised to reflect, et cetera.

So I expect we'll get a revision of the evidence, so I'm requesting that those two exhibits be revised as per what was provided in response here.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, can you clarify what you're asking again?

MR. DUMKA:  Sure.  Absolutely.  The quoted statement:

"The applied-for rate increase is likely to be mitigated by anticipated reductions in transmission pension contribution operating expenses arising from the receipt of an updated actuarial valuation report that was not finalized at the time this application was filed.  The report is expected to be finalized at the end of June 2016."

So the IR was, are those statements correct or should they be revised, because on July 20th you submitted the actuarial report.  So the response is:

"Yes, the excerpted statement should be revised to reflect that the actuarial report was received on June 9th and filed on June 20th."

So all I'm asking -- or all I'm saying is I expected you would revise those two statements in the evidence and you didn't, so I'm just requesting that you revise those two pages in those exhibits.  That's all.

MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  So you're looking for the words to be changed in those exhibits --


MR. DUMKA:  Absolutely, yeah, you know, looking at it from my perspective a year from now when I'm looking at distribution I'll want to go through this, and I go through, for example, the executive summary of this application, you know, so we've got a clear trail in terms of the evidence that you provide.

MR. HUBERT:  You're looking for basically a blue page of whatever --


MR. DUMKA:  Yeah.

MR. HUBERT:  -- to reflect those words.  I think we can do that.  Certainly.

MR. DUMKA:  That's great.  Okay.  And maybe this is the point I'll ask Hydro One to consider with regards to corrections like this.  We've had a number of corrections and interrogatory responses in evidence, and I would request that Hydro One consider providing updated PDFs of the evidence and the IRs with all the updates so that we all have a clean record, just one set of files that we can rely on as we go forward through this proceeding.  So --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Dumka, I'm sorry, but that's not a reasonable request to make.  And the reason is this:  The application -- the size of the application is significant.  It is enormous.  If we were to take your suggestion and revise or create multiple versions of the application and go through a process of looking through and trying to place changes like what you're suggesting here be made each and every time, and the exercise at hand would become unmanageable.  The process that we are going through is when we have filed, for example, the revised actuarial report, we did so and filed it as an exhibit and provided parties with that information.  That is the process that we will be filing and following in the future.

If there are changes that aren't reflected in the substantive aspects of the application, such as what Mr. Hubert did at the outset of today's proceeding to connect the dots, we will be filing exhibits to do that as well.  But we are not going to make commitments to, each and every time a change happens, to go through and file a new version of the application.  That's unreasonable.

MR. DUMKA:  My only comment on that I know in past proceedings, Hydro One has provided consolidated files.  They’ve not distributed them because of the size, but provided them for intervenors and interested parties to access on their website.

So it's been done before.  Fine; if the position now I that won't, that's all right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think there is a misunderstanding – and you can correct me.  Are you only just seeking for blue page updates, that it be put in some new PDF document for the application?

MR. NETTLETON:  It's a good point, Mr. Rubenstein.  Thank you for stepping in here.  We're not changing anything in the past.  The blue page process, the update pages is something that we have done and will continue to do moving forward.

But what I heard was each time there is a blue page update, that we then go through the exercise of making sure that every aspect of the application has been modified or tweaked.  And the point is that, you know, when we miss statements like this about the fact that our executive summary has contemplated there would be an actuarial report filed in the future, and we file the actuarial report, but we don't go back and then say the paragraph that said an actuarial report will be filed is then removed.  That's an exercise that has very little utility.  It doesn't help matters.

The fact is that the revised actuarial report is on the public record and we have no intention of going to that level of granularity to reflect a perfect record, if you will.

MS. HELT:  If I can add to this conversation, there are specific requirements under the rules, the OEB Rules of Practice, with respect to how to update evidence properly and it's – you know, it indicates that you are to file a sheet of coloured paper with the updated evidence, and as long as that is followed -- I appreciate that you're asking an undertaking if they will do it otherwise, and I think Mr. Nettleton has answered.

MR. DUMKA:  My last request was actually something different, which is in the past this applicant has taken their evidence – we’ll call it Exhibit A.  I'm not talking about making changes, but if they have provided blue page updates, to take Exhibit A and insert the updated pages in a PDF so we have one Exhibit A with all the updates they provided at that point in time.  That's what I'm asking about.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you've done this with at least the first set, at least from the version that’s on your website which I always use.  You guys update them  when there are blue page updates only.

MR. NETTLETON:  The nods are -- heads are nodding around this end of the table, because I believe that's what we have done and are doing.  And I don't think there is any issue here.

So I think if the question is are you going to continue to do what you've done, the answer is yes.

MS. HELT:  Then there was an undertaking given with respect to the Society's IR number 1, which was to revise and update the particular statements made that are referenced in Interrogatory No.1.  So I'm going to note that as TCJ1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.21:  TO REVISE AND UPDATE THE STATEMENTS MADE IN SEP IR NO. 1 2


MR. DUMKA:  My next question is on Society question No. 4, an this was asking for details on the transmission capital budget from 2012 to 2021.

And my question is on part B, an that's where we asked for the capitalized pension costs.  And if we flip to the response on page 2, we see figures from 2012 to 2018 and it says:
“Forecasts for the period ‘19 to ‘21 cannot be provided as there is no actuarial support available at this time.”

So I'm just seeking some clarification.  Is Hydro One saying they did not include capitalized pension costs in their capital program for 2019 to ‘21?  Is that what you're saying here?

MR. JODOIN:  That is not true.  What we are saying here is the actuarial report that we had done did not go past that point.  There were estimates that are separate from that that are used for the period beyond that time frame.

MR. DUMKA:  I'll ask you then to provide those estimates, with the footnote that those aren't based on an updated actuarial report for that period.

MR. NETTLETON:  Can you help me understand why that information is relevant to an application whose test years are 2017 and 2018?

MR. DUMKA:  You've provided capital details right through 2021, and we can see the trending all the way through to that period in terms of where costs are being spent at high levels.  That's why we're asking those questions we have posed in that IR.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm instructing the witness not to take that undertaking.  The information that's relevant to this proceeding as it relates to the test years is on the record, and that's as far we will go.

MR. DUMKA:  My next question is on Society 5, and my first question on that is: is this is a panel 1 or panel 2 item?

MR. NETTLETON:  This appears to be panel 2.

MR. DUMKA:  Panel 2?  Okay, thanks.  My next question is on Society IR 7.  Same question; is it panel 1 or panel 2?

MR. NETTLETON:  That would be panel 2.

MR. DUMKA:  Thanks.  Society question number 9.  This is on the Brookfield contract.  Again, before I ask the question, is this going to be a question of this panel or panel 2?

MR. NETTLETON:  We're in a grey zone and the reason is that the witnesses that are appearing today are not specifically in the area of procurement.  Mr. Schneider is the witness responsible for this.  So like what we've done in the past, this panel has attempted to address clarifications, but we have typically done so through undertakings.

So my suggestion would be ask the questions and we'll see how we can go.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That sounds reasonable.  If we look at question A, it was basically, well, what are the annual cost savings to be realized from 2015 to 2018.  And if we look at the response rather than numbers, it was -- they were expected to be modest and realized primarily through the third party contracts.  That's fine.

I want some explanation of what is modest is.  Is that zero, or is it a significant portion of the savings that were discussed in, for example, the CCC IR.

So can those values be provided for ‘15, ‘16,‘17 and ‘18?

MR. NETTLETON:  So I think what we can undertake to do is we can provide with some clarity around the word modest.  I think that's what you're looking for?

MR. DUMKA:  Mm-hmm.  Yeah.

MR. NETTLETON:  We will undertake to clarify that response.

MR. DUMKA:  Because in part (b) we were told the savings were .8 of a million.  So I would expect if they're in that range there would be no problem in providing those figures for '16 through '18.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Helt, I think an undertaking has been given.

MS. HELT:  Yes, but an undertaking number.  TCJ1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.22:  TO CLARIFY THE RESPONSE TO SEP IR NO. 9

MR. DUMKA:  Also in question B we asked if there was an update of the forecast of those savings.  So as opposed to what was originally expected.  So if you provide the figures for A, I would be looking for too what you expected and what the current projection is or forecast, or if it's the same that's fine.

MR. NETTLETON:  We will undertake to determine whether there has been any material changes to the numbers presented.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Now, in Part --


MS. HELT:  So just --


MR. DUMKA:  Sorry.

MS. HELT:  -- then we'll note that then as another undertaking, TCJ1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.23:  TO DETERMINE WHETHER THERE HAS BEEN ANY MATERIAL CHANGES TO THE NUMBERS PRESENTED.

MR. DUMKA:  Part D of that question we asked for the -- for Hydro One to provide the critical service levels, the key performance measures, and critical deliverables as provided for in the agreement, along with the quarterly results since the inception of the agreement.

Now, we were provided with a list, but what we were looking for was not just the list of those items but the quantities associated.  So what were the target values?  We've been corrected in the response that they're done annually, so what are the annual quantities?  Both the target values and the actuals in 2015, which is what you have.

MR. NETTLETON:  And sir, we can undertake to examine the answer that has been provided and determine if there is additional information that we can provide that addresses the question that was posed and get back to you.

MS. HELT:  Is that agreeable?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, under the circumstances.

MS. HELT:  TCJ1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.24:  TO EXAMINE THE ANSWER THAT HAS BEEN PROVIDED AND DETERMINE IF THERE IS ADDITIONAL INFORMATION THAT CAN BE PROVIDED THAT ADDRESSES THE QUESTION.

MR. DUMKA:  If you could flip to Society IR number 10.  Now, question A was:

"Please provide the most recent demographic and skills analyses conducted by Hydro One as mentioned in the reference statement from your evidence with regards to those types of analyses."

And the response that we got was a listing of some types of such analyses, but the question asked Hydro One to provide those.  So that's what I'm requesting now.  Copies of those particular analyses that you do.

MR. MCDONELL:  Maybe my answer wasn't as clear as it should have been or could have been.  There isn't a specific demographic or skills analysis.  What I want to do is set out four or five areas at which we do look at demographics and skills and the actions we take with it.  So there isn't a document out there on skill analysis that I'm aware of.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  My one follow-up question on that is my client, the Society of Energy Professionals, doesn't appear as if any of these analyses that are done are done with regards to Society staff.  So I just wanted to confirm that --

MR. MCDONELL:  I might disagree with that.  I mean, I would think number 2, where we talk about identifying developing high-potential employees, that certainly could capture some Society representative employees for sure.

MR. DUMKA:  And let's see:

"With regards to provincial alliances implemented a three-year journeypersons efficiency training who ensures skills for lines journeymen or -- journey persons are kept current."


So there are no such studies done with regards to Society staff --


MR. MCDONELL:  Well, that makes sense for our trades.  I mean, those are the real hardcore skills of Hydro One, so you would expect that there would be a fair bit of emphasis on those skills and identifying gaps in skills and taking appropriate action.

MR. DUMKA:  So what you're saying is there are no such analyses done with regards to Society staff?

MR. MCDONELL:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. DUMKA:  Thanks.

With regards to Society question number 13, if we take a look at question A:

"Please provide the annual number of graduate trainees hired for each of 2014 to 2018."

When I flip to your response on the second page no figures have been provided for 2017 and '18, as they have not been finalized at this time.

So would I be correct then in taking that to infer that no costs for grad trainees have been included in this submission from Hydro One?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can give you a bit of an update.  Just recently you may be aware that we really don't start the new grad hiring program until fall-ish -- or summer, I should say, and so for 2017 we've just committed to hiring 12 new grads for 2017.  2018, we just haven't got there yet, so those costs would not be included.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So again, those costs would not be included and they wouldn't be included, for example, in the payroll table that we're talking about earlier today.  This is the C1, tab 4, Schedule 1, attachment 1 payroll table?

MR. MCDONELL:  For 2018?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. DUMKA:  So there would be nothing there in '18 for -- okay.

If I could ask you to go to Society question 14.  And if I take a look at the response for part (a), there are no figures provided for 2017 and '18, and this is co-op student hires, so the same question is posed.

So there are no costs included in the submission for 2017 and '18 for co-op students?

MR. MCDONELL:  That one I'm going to give you a bit of a different answer, because you can see a little bit of a trend.  We've been hiring fairly consistently around 300 co-ops per year, so we would have put that into our business plans for '17 and '18.

MR. DUMKA:  So the figure is roughly 300?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That's great.  Thanks.

I'll ask you if you could to flip to Society question 17.  And this is questions on pension contributions.  And if I look at question A, we've asked for an update to get the MCP pension contribution data for 2017 and '18 and an explanation of the rationale methodology to arrive at those figures, and when we look at your response on the second page it basically says:

"MCP employee contributions have not been finalized for '17 or '18.  However, it is expected that MCP employee contributions will be increased."

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. DUMKA:  So my question to you then is what has -- has anything been included or taken into account for MCP employee contributions for pension in '17 or '18, or is it zero for those years?

MR. MCDONELL:  It would be the same.  They haven't changed.

MR. DUMKA:  They haven't changed.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yeah, but I don't -- I'd also mention that, I mean, obviously pension costs are very important for us.  While we haven't identified for '17 and '18, I think our evidence we pointed out that we have closed our defined benefit plan for management employees and created a new defined contribution plan --

MR. DUMKA:  Right.  Well, could I ask you to update then the table you provided to provide the figures that you've just mentioned for '17 and '18?

MR. MCDONELL:  They wouldn't be any different, Mr. Dumka.  I did check with Towers on that point.  If we're not changing the employee contribution for MCP in the short-term, we wouldn’t expect a change in the ratio in the longer term.  If we didn't change it, yes, you would see a reduction in the ratio.  But the short-term, no.  So if I did update it, it would be the same.

MR. DUMKA:  That's fine.  The reason we asked for this table was to see the three categories of staff and how their contributions varied from year-to-year, not within themselves but between themselves.  If I could ask you to just update this table with those figures for 2017 and ‘18 for MCP, could you do that?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Dumka, the witness has said there would be no difference, there would be no additional information.  I'm failing to see the value in having a table replicated with what was just provided.  We now have a list of what I’m venturing to be 24 undertakings, and we have to be a little bit more disciplined in terms of the -- ensuring that the information we're giving is really needed.

If you were to attend the hearing and were to ask Mr. McDonell these questions again in the same light as the answers that he has been providing, again I would be objecting to the question of having to provide an undertaking because there is no real additional evidence than what Mr. McDonell has said orally.

So I'm objecting to the undertaking because the amount of work involved and the need for the document is just --don't see the value in it.

MR. DUMKA:  Moving on with regards to that piece of evidence, perhaps Mr. McDonell can explain to me why there's breakdowns of the Society pension contributions.  There's two tiers and I'm aware that for MCP staff, there are three tiers now.

So I'm curious as to why the MCP data was not provided in that format, providing the breakdown between the different tiers.  You just mentioned those MCP getting hired now where it's a defined contribution plan.  So I don't see that breakdown here, and I'm wondering why we didn't get that data in evidence.

MR. MCDONELL:  I just realized that myself.  I don't know why I did not include the second tier MCP.

MR. DUMKA:  Would it be reasonable to ask you to provide that data in your undertaking?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can find out if I have the information.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay, thanks.

MS. HELT:  So the undertaking is not only to find out if you have the information, but also to provide it if you do have it?  Yes?  Thank you.  That will be TCJ1.25.
UNDERTAKING No. TCJ1.25:  TO PROVIDE DATA FOR SECOND TIER MCP STAFF

MR. DUMKA:  If I could ask you to go to Society 18, this was a series of questions on diversity.  And part B you provided -- if we go to part B, you provided a listing of a number of initiatives that are underway, et cetera.

My question on this is how many -- or can you provide an indication of how many of these initiatives are one-offs or ongoing?  It's not clear going through this list, like  scientist in school, you know --


MR. MCDONELL:  When you say one-offs, you mean it was a program that no longer is a program?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  You’ve got something in 2016 that isn't continuing in ‘17 or ‘18.

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't know off the top of my head, but I'm sure that would not be difficult to get.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  If you can provide that as an undertaking, I would appreciate it.  And also we didn't ask for it specifically, but if you have sort of what's the ballpark cost in total -- not granular for each one of these, but what's the sort of ballpark cost of the company spends on these sorts of things annually?

MR. MCDONELL:  The budget for diversity?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  Again, I'll see what is available.

MR. DUMKA:  Thanks.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking TCJ1.26.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.26:  WITH RESPECT TO SEC NO. 18 TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNTS SPENT ON DIVERSITY INITIATIVES, TO ADVISE CURRENT ACTIVE PROGRAMS AND CURRENT COSTS

MR. MCDONELL:  Just to be clear, I think what I can provide is for those that are currently active, what the potential costs are for those programs.  Is that fair?

MR. DUMKA:  Sure, yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. DUMKA:  My last question is on Society 19, and again, we had asked for this data.  Basically what it's looking at is providing retirements and attritions, non-retirement and the percentages there.  And there was no data that was provided for 2017 and ‘18.

So my question is why was that not provided, and can it be provided?

MR. MCDONELL:  We haven't had 2017 and 2018 yet.  I guess that’s part of the difficulty.  Because I think you're asking for the number of retirements, the number of attrition through non-retirements, the number of hiring.  I don't know how I can provide that for future years.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, I would have assumed that if you're doing a cost of service application in front of the OEB, there would be costs associated with this.  So they would be built in, so there would be some head count data associated with that.

And if I understood your answer, you're saying that no, nothing -- this is not being taken into account in 2017 and ‘18.

MR. MCDONELL:  Somewhere along the way, I think I had an IR about forecasting retirements for 2017 and ‘18.  Just bear with me.

Maybe this will partially answer your question.  In Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 124, we do forecast retirements for 2017 and 2018.  Hopefully, that's sufficient to answer your question.

MR. DUMKA:  Partially.  And just to confirm, Hydro One does not forecast attrition in rate years and the costs associated with attrition and external hires.  That's not there?

MR. NETTLETON:  You will recall earlier in the day there was a discussion about vacancy rates and the -- I think the response of Mr. McDonell was that we are not forecasting that in the years because we have not historically had difficulty filling empty positions that happen within that year.

So the forecast that has been provided that's shown on Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 124 provides forecast numbers that have been taken into account for retirements in the two test years.

So I don’t think there is anything more we can give you.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Maybe I can ask one further clarifying question with regards to that.  I look at the forecasts for MCP external hires in ‘18 and correct me if I'm wrong, but I would assume most if not all of those external hires are made using head hunters.

MR. MCDONELL:  Sorry, what exhibit are you referring to?

MR. DUMKA:  I’m referring to MCP regular in your table for 2016 as of July.  And if I take a look at external Hires, the second last column you provided in answer, so if I look as of July, you have made 18 external MCP hires.  In previous years, and maybe there is a seasonality to it, you've had 21 hires in ‘15, 23 hires in ‘14, 13 hires -- and I assume that's 2013, the first series of rows there.

So my question is for -- you have not forecast external hires for '17 and '18, so Hydro One has not straight-lined, for example, the cost of making external MCP hires, which are -- again, you get headhunting outfits, generally speaking, for those, so if you have got a VP or an EVP or whoever, you're paying a head-hunter outfit a minimum of one-third the starting salary for that individual.  So I'm just asking for clarification that there are no such costs --


MR. MCDONELL:  I think I would disagree with your assumption that we use head-hunters for all our MCP hires --


MR. DUMKA:  Oh, no, excuse me, I didn't say "all MCP hires".  External MCP hires --


MR. MCDONELL:  Well, that's what I'm referring to.  I would disagree with that.  In our human-resource group we have a recruitment group that's staffed with a couple of recruitment analysts who -- that would be the first place we'd go to to recruit for MCP jobs.


Have we used head-hunters occasionally?  Yeah, we have, but I would say by large we do it internally.


MR. DUMKA:  So this is for, for example, for band 5, band 4?  All the way up you don't use head-hunters.


MR. MCDONELL:  And 5 and below, band 5 and band 10, for  a vice-president?  Yeah, probably.  It would go --


MR. DUMKA:  So again, you've confirmed that you don't have any such hiring costs included in 2017.


MR. MCDONELL:  Well, those costs would be in the human-resource budget for recruitment, which would be part of this application.


MR. DUMKA:  So those costs are covered there.


MR. MCDONELL:  Forecasted costs.


MR. DUMKA:  But you have no head count to go with those.


MR. MCDONELL:  Well, it's a forecast based on past hiring that we put monies into our recruitment budget for future hires.  It's run in the department.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  We've gone circular.  You've basically told me that, yeah, you do have forecasts for external hires, for instance, but you're not -- you can't provide the number, because it is built into your budget, is what you've just told me.


MR. MCDONELL:  There would be a line item for recruitment costs, and part of that could be monies towards head-hunters.  But I guess what I'm trying to suggest is that we don't use head-hunters that often.  For more of the senior roles, yes, but for the lower roles, MCP, no, we do it internally.


MR. DUMKA:  Fine.  That's all I have to ask.  Thanks.


MR. MCDONELL:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Dumka.


So I would suggest now -- we have two more parties to ask questions of panel 1, but panel 1 will step down now and resume first thing tomorrow morning.  Again, I would like to thank panel 1 for their cooperation in coming back tomorrow morning and accommodating the schedule of the various parties.  It's most appreciated.


So if we can now then have panel 2 come up, and then what I would suggest, Mr. Nettleton, if this works to you, you can introduce the panel and give any -- have them present any opening remarks, and we'll come back and start with questions on panel 2 with Mr. Rubenstein and then those other parties who can't be here tomorrow and we'll just see how far we can get.


If I could ask the court reporter, are you available to stay until 5:00 p.m. today?  I mean, later if possible, but I don't know about other people's schedules.


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Helt, maybe we can take a break.


MS. HELT:  Sure.  We'll talk about it offline.


MR. NETTLETON:  Panel 2 isn't here, so I can't introduce them.


MS. HELT:  Oh.


MR. NETTLETON:  Over the break we will bring panel 2, and let's do it all at --


MS. HELT:  Sure.  So we'll take a break until quarter after?  All right.

--- Recess taken at 2:58 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:19 p.m.


MS. HELT:  All right, if we can get started now.  I see we have panel 2 now available and ready to answer any questions.

But before that, Mr. Nettleton, I believe you were going to introduce the panel and there may be a short presentation with respect to risk analysis or risk management.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Yes, let me introduce the panel first, and then we can get to their topical areas.

I'm happy to introduce to the people in attendance at this technical conference the panel 2 Hydro One individuals.

Seated closest to the court reporter is Mr. Bing Young, and Mr. Young is Director of system planning at Hydro One.  Seated beside Mr. Young is Mr. Mike Penstone.  Some will recall Mr. Penstone was on the panel that attended at the presentation day.  Mr. Penstone is the vice president of planning.

Seated beside Mr. Penstone is Mr. C.K. Ng.  Mr. Ng is the director of transmission asset management.  And finally, Mr. McLachlan is seated beside Mr. Ng, and Mr. McLachlan is the director of planning analytics.

I say finally because Mr. Hubert has also remained on this panel and in that capacity, is going to be able to assist with some of the scorecard questions that may be asked by the parties.

One of the things that we did note when we received the intervenor submissions was a common theme of questions and clarifications regarding Hydro One's risk assessment methodology and the reliability model that has been used for purposes of its investment planning process.  And to that end, we have asked Mr. Penstone to provide a brief discussion about those elements and how they interrelate into the planning process.

So without further ado, Mr. Penstone, take it away.
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Presentation by Mr. Penstone:


MR. PENSTONE:  Good afternoon.  As Gord just mentioned, I've been asked to summarize our planning process described in our filed evidence, and clarify linkages to our asset risk assessment, our customer consultations, and reliability risk assessment.

This particular slide that’s displayed in front of you is included in our evidence in Exhibit B1-2-7, as a description of how our investment plan has developed.

This particular process is used to identify the timing, pacing, and need for capital expenditures outlined in our transition plan and OM&A expenditures.  The process employs a combination of quantitative information about the state of our assets, customer feedback, an optimization tool, engineering assessments, and management judgment.

Its outcome is an investment plan that strikes an optimal balance amongst asset needs, customer preferences, and rate impacts.  As indicated in the first box, the planning process and its resulting investments is designed to manage the risks of achieving Hydro One's business objectives consistent with Hydro One’s corporate values.

Our business objectives include customer satisfaction and focus, worker and public safety, reliability, productivity and cost control, employee engagement, environment and public policy responsiveness, and financial performance.  These objectives are designed to enable Hydro One to achieve our vision of being a best-in-class commercial enterprise, one that is customer focused, accountable for results, and emphasizes productivity and efficiency.

There is a direct correlation and linkage between our use of subjectives and the OEB's performance outcomes outlined in its renewed regulatory framework for electricity.  Consequently, the results of the planning process also enables Hydro One to fulfill the OEB's expectations for a transmission utility.

Within box two, economic assumptions that influence investment costs are established.

The third box is used to establish Hydro One's investment plan.  It begins with the potential or candidate investments.  These investments are identified by planners across the corporation that are accountable for distinct groups of assets; stations, lines, information technology, real estate, operating, fleet.

For investments related to Hydro One's electrical assets, we use the asset risk assessment process to identify and compile asset needs and also to confirm these needs through on-site inspections and discussions with operations and maintenance personnel.  This is a continuous process undertaken by engineers or experienced technical staff.

Now, these asset needs are determined by considering age, condition, historical performance, expected future maintenance costs, past utilization, and their criticality.  Asset needs are also identified based upon compliance obligations, environmental, health and safety considerations, equipment defects, emerging issues that have safety or reliability implications, and typically these are identified through formal event analyses that are conducted after an incident and are confirmed through diagnostic testing.

Now, in parallel with the asset risk assessment process, further investment candidates are also identified as a result of the needs and preferences of individual customers, and this might include new or expanded connections, or the need to address reliability issues that customers are experiencing, the formal customer consultation process, the outcome of regional planning studies, and emerging products and services that will contribute to improved operational efficiencies.

Each candidate investment includes a description of the extent to which it will mitigate risks to achieving the business objectives that I described previously.  When I say mitigate risk, I mean the extent to which the investment will reduce the risk from the current – what we refer to as baseline risk, in other words the status quo without an investment to a lower residual risk; that is the risk that would exist after an investment is made.

All candidate investments and their risk assessments are reviewed and approved by accountable managers.  And once that's done, we move to the optimization stage which is described in the fourth box.  The fourth box initiates what we refer to as our investment planning process in which candidate investments and their accompanying risk assessments are subsequently prioritized using a computer application, again based upon the extent to which they mitigate risks.

The output of this optimization process is then reviewed by stakeholders within the company to identify any outlier investments that, based upon management's judgment, do not merit the priority either high or low assigned as a result of the optimization process.

This review also considers execution impacts, and these can include the availability of material, labour or outages necessarily to execute the work, the direct reliability impacts of our activity on our individual customers, the resulting system reliability risk that will result from the plan.

Now, reliability risk is a relative outcome measure that gauges the impact of the investment plan.  It considers asset demographics, expected failure rates, and the contribution of different types of assets to reliability performance.

And last but not least, the review also considers the rate impacts of the investment plan.  Adjustments are then applied, and the resulting plan is then subject to Hydro One's internal approval process.

Within the final box projects are initiated and monitored, and also includes -- this stage also includes a process to redirect or alter planned projects as new risks or opportunities emerge that were not identified when the plan was finalized or as changes are made to the scope, cost, or timing of the projects.

New or emerging risk or opportunities include changing customer needs or requirements, the results of newly issued regional plans, changing asset priorities based on new information, new standards, or unforeseen events.

Now, I hope that in the last few minutes I've been able to link various concepts that are contained in our evidence and show how these concepts contribute to the production of the investment plan and contribute to our investment planning process.

Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  So Ms. Helt, I think with that presentation these witnesses are available to help clarify any questions the parties may have.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton, Mr. Penstone.

Mr. -- what is your name?  Rubenstein.  Momentary lapse.  My apologies.  Mark and I know each other very well.
Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Forgettable one.

We start off -- if you could put up that presentation again, and that slide.  I was wondering if you could just go through that process with a specific illustrative example of one of -- of a standard asset replacement program that you're undertaking maybe with respect to transformers and just help us understand prac -- I'm interested sort of at a practical level who -- what happens?

MR. PENSTONE:  The planners will initially identify a need for an investment to be made.  They will identify that there may be a transformer that is in poor condition, that there is an air blast circuit breaker whose performance is not proper or meeting the necessary targets.  They may identify the fact that we have issues with insulators which are failing at an alarming rate.

So the planner will then document and write, say, 'I have a candidate investment.  This investment has the following scope.  This is what I would like to do.  Here is the risks that this investment will address.'

So in the case of a failed insulator -- we'll use that as an example -- an insulator failure can create public health and safety risks, so those would be documented.  They would also -- a failed insulator also contributes to a reliability risk, so he would highlight the reliability risk.  And a failed insulator could also contribute to customer satisfaction, because if it fails and creates an incident customers will be unhappy.

And by the way, this was an actual event, and this is an actual investment.

So these are all documented, and they basically say if I undertake this investment at a particular level here is how the reliability issues will be mitigated, here is how customer satisfaction will be mitigated, and here is how health and safety risks will be mitigated.

And the planners are guided by a chart that basically, because risk is, you know, probability times consequence, they're basically saying, all right, if you make that investment, to what extent does that risk get reduced?  On that chart, which is in the evidence, we should actually move to either a lower probability or a lower consequence.  So in other words, there is a difference.

So this is all documented, and it's in a format that it can now be used to compare and contrast the value of that investment against a myriad of other investments.  So within the company what we're trying to gauge is what is the optimal level of expenditures, not only within my accountability of wires, but also, should I spend an extra dollar on replacing an insulator or should I spend an extra dollar replacing the roof of a building, real estate, or should I spend a dollar on a new IT system?

So all the other planners are going through the same exercise.  They are basically documenting in a standard form the extent to which their investment will address risks to our business objectives.

Once that's done, using this standardized approach, we take the outcome or the output of all of these planner's proposals and optimize them, put them into a tool, and say, okay, what does this look like.  And that then gives us a priority to say, should we replace an insulator or should we install an IT system or should we replace a transformer.

That is essentially -- creates an invest -- what we refer to as an investment plan that is then -- hmm.  How do I -- further expanded with other costs, corporate common costs, depreciation costs, tax costs, to basically arrive or contribute to a plan that is used as a basis for our revenue requirement.

So Mr. Rubenstein, I don't know whether I've addressed your issue, but this is --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's very helpful, thank you.  I -- and I want to understand when you have all the various investments, you've risked them out, they're now -- they've been optimized, so essentially you have an order in a broad sense.

Does Hydro One say -- come in and say, 'We have X amount of dollars we can spend, so let's take the top -- you know, the highest level of projects until we get to that budget,' or is it -- or do you have some other method to determine which projects you end up going through and doing?
MR. PENSTONE:  So all of these projects, right, their execution ultimately impact our revenue requirements and will ultimately impact rates.  So it's -- at this point -- and they ultimately impact -- another consideration is can we execute all of this work.

So when you add those other considerations, this then takes that large catalogue of prioritized investments, and we establish, here is what we believe is a recommended cut-off point.  We understand the risks that will remain because there's other work that, frankly, has been identified by planners that will not be undertaken.  We also understand the risks that will be mitigated if we continue with the work, so, you know, the benefits.  We understand the extent to which -- or we're confident that we're able to execute the work and it won't have adverse effects that I described earlier on customers, because when we execute work we have to take equipment out of service.  We're confident that we can get all the necessary outages to execute the work, and again, we're cognizant of the rate impact that this will have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

If we can start off by going to Staff 97.  I tried to ask this to the panel earlier on today.  This is at I-1, Schedule 97.

Staff had asked you in the context of questions about unit cost metrics a comment that you had made in the evidence about, it's difficult to compare costs across different sites because there are differences, and Staff asked you in part (a):

"Has Hydro One attempted to compare costs across construction sites for these heterogeneous activities?  If 'yes', please provide examples."

And in your response, you talk about how your initiating and benchmarking initiatives to determine which values are more appropriate to use as comparators and, I guess, how to do this exactly.

I was wondering if you could just briefly talk more about that.  What exactly are you doing, and what's the status of that, and is there any sort of preliminary conclusions you can share with us?

MR. PENSTONE:  Mr. Rubenstein, this particular panel can't address construction costs.  We're not -- that's not our backgrounds.  Is the process to basically undertake to provide an answer to your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You can provide it by way of undertaking.

MS. HELT:  If that is something that you are prepared to answer and you can't do so now, then the usual practice is then to provide an undertaking as long as your counsel doesn't object.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  Can you ask the question again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I was just wondering -- the last sentence is:
“Hydro One has initiated a benchmarking initiative to determine which values are most appropriate to use as comparators.”

I'm interpreting the response in that statement is you're looking into how to do -- to compare construction site costs for heterogeneous activities, or similar activities where you don't have the issues hard to compare.

I was wondering if you could provide information in a general sense of what's the status of that.  Is there any sort of preliminary assessment that you have about this sort of thing?

MR. NETTLETON:  What I'm hearing is can you provide any additional clarification or update around that last sentence, and we can certainly do that by way of undertaking.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking TCJ1.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.27:  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL CLARIFICATION OR UPDATE AROUND THAT LAST SENTENCE IN THE RESPONSE TO STAFF 97

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to Staff 28?  The context of this undertaking, as I understand it, is about the asset economic risk.  And you were asked in part A:  Does Hydro One develop business cases to evaluate the economic risk of individual assets or groups of assets. 
And then it asks you:
“If yes, does the business case evaluation criteria change in accordance with certain material thresholds.  Please provide details.”  And then part 2:  “If yes, please provide the business cases for all projects listed in the filing with total costs over 20 million.”

 If you look at your response to part one -- sorry A(i), you say:
“Only major assets such as transformers, breakers, transmission lines are economically evaluated to determine if they should be replaced or refurbished.  See the graph below as a sample analysis.”  And then you provide it here.

And then for part 2, you're asked to provide all the business cases and you refer to the ISDs.  The ISDs don’t have this sort of economic analysis in them.  I was wondering if you can provide those.  So this chart is very helpful in helping to understand and evaluate.  Are you able to provide it for all the projects?  The ISDs don’t have that in there.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, I think what you heard from Mr. Penstone is the fact that planners across the province are looking at the question of investment candidates.  And again, I think the concern here is the level of granularity with the request that is being made and also – well, I'll leave it with the level of granularity and how it relates to this proceeding.

But I want to get Mr. Penstone's views on this, too, because I think it will be helpful to you and to others in terms of where this exercise fits into the boxes he presented in the table, because it is really important, I think, that we all understand where its happening.

MR. PENSTONE:  Mr. Ng will sort of clarify the extent to which we consider economics in replacing these particular assets.

MR. NG:  Good afternoon.  In terms of major assets such as transformers, the trade-off between refurbishment and capital investment is done when a planner has notified that the asset is in need of replacement.  It has deteriorated to a point that reliability becomes a challenge.

So at that point in time, a planner will look at the cost of the transformers and factor in what is the cost of repair to reduce the leak, and make an assessment that once the leak is repaired, how many more years can we expect the asset to last.

That cost is compared against the net present value of replacing it brand new and the what is the total cost of  refurbishment and the expected life that this asset can continue to provide service.

I would like to bring you to the attention of IR from CME number 6.  In it, there is a report that we filed that talks in length about this economic trade-off when we come to a transformer assessment exercise.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I understand the point of it, and I understand the theory there, the plan, the theory that you've undertaken and how you do the calculation in a general sense.

As I understood it, and maybe you correct me if I'm wrong, the chart you're showing in this interrogatory is an example of it being done.  Is that -- am I right about that?  For this asset, this was a sample evaluation that you did for one of your 230 kV auto transformers.  Is that what I’m looking at?

MR. NG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for all the ISDs, or least for all the ISDs that fit into categories of major assets –transformers, breakers, and transmission lines -- does one exist, a similar graph like this?

MR. NG:  For all the transformers that we propose to replace, the 41 of them, they all have a specific comparison chart as such prepared and analyzed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we have that for each of the major assets, transformers, breakers, transmission lines?  That's what I'm seeking.

MR. NETTLETON:  Again, Mr. Rubenstein, I would object to the request that you're asking for on the basis of its granularity.

What we've tried to do is provide you with an example of one instance, one investment candidate where that type of analysis is shown.  Unless you can provide us with better understanding of how that information is going to be used to support -- or be used in the hearing, I think we would have a very difficult time with fulfilling the request you're making.

As Mr. Ng indicated, there’s 41 of these for just one type of asset.  If we get into a hearing about how each individual asset has been assessed in the manner in which the assessment has been carried out on an individual asset by asset basis, this type of armchair quarterbacking is, with due respect, not something that we believe is for the purposes of this hearing.

The fact that there is a model, and the fact that the professionals that Hydro One has on its payroll that carries out this task is what is the basis of this interrogatory.  It demonstrates the process that these professionals are undertaking and how it's carried out, and that's the point of this exercise and this information request.

So I'm objecting to the question of providing each and every analysis that's done on each and every asset that seems to be the basis of your request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to clarify, part 2 is what I was interested in, the response to part -- sorry, A(ii), which was -- the question was only asking for ones which are 20 million dollars.  And I'm asking if you can provide the chart that you would have for each of the assets where the project is 20 million dollars is more.

I assume that is a more narrow category.  And to the overall question about the granularity, I mean, this is a forward looking -- you're seeking revenue requirement on a forward-looking basis.  You say that the Board is not here to armchair quarterback.  In some way, it’s to evaluate the reasonableness of your proposals for these capital programs, obviously understanding and seeing the data so we can test to ensure that the replace versus a refurbishment option is the appropriate one is central.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, we've attempted to provide you with a summary of the projects.  That's what Mr. Ng was referring to in terms of the documents, I think, that were included at -- in the CME response.  But the ISD is really what it is intended to fulfill that information, but we are not going so far as to produce the requested information that you've asked in interrogatory A, sub-point 2 of the business cases for all projects in this filing with total costs of $20 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I could ask you to turn to interrogatory 59.  Staff had asked you in part (a) how Hydro One guards against judgment bias and made contrary to the objective evidence, and in your response in paragraph 2 you talk about how Hydro One has developed training modules to derive a consistent assessment of risk across business units guiding planners to identify the risks, sources, hazards, or threats and strength of existing controls and ultimately to define the risk event and investment intended to mitigate or prevent as outlined at section 4.3 of Exhibit B-1, tab 2, Schedule -- so I just want to clarify what you mean by that.

So essentially it's to -- how to -- when you talk about a training module to help guard against judgment bias, it's a training module to ensure that they're assessing the risks properly that you've categorized and that you talked about in your presentation?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I would say it's assessing them properly and consistently.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

If I can ask you to turn to Staff 88.  And here you were asked about the specific investment about transmission line emergency restorations -- and you talked about -- and -- and in the graph below your -- the specific interrogatory asked you to provide annual -- historic annual levels of spending associated with emergency transmission line repairs from 2012 to 2015.

I was wondering if you could just explain to me the significant increases in the test year.

MR. NG:  Significant increases in the test year as a total or the line item under the line emergency restorations?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, the total, I mean --


MR. NG:  The total.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- the total -- the graph you're talk -- you provide for overhead line component replacement programs jump -- is jumping pretty dramatically, as I read it, in the test years.  I was wondering if you can sort of provide some insight about that.

MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. -- sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, are you just looking at the total line from 2015 of 66.6 to the bridge year of 93.8 or from 93.8 to 170.2?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, both, but the more dramatic is from 2016 to the 27 -- 2018.

MR. PENSTONE:  So Mr. Rubenstein, I'll start with the colour and then Mr. Ng can chime in.

So if we take you step-by-step, I'll take you to the second -- and I'm going to focus on ones where there is a significant increase.  So the steel structure coating, all right, we are proposing that -- this involves the essentially painting of steel towers with a zinc paint, and the purpose of painting those steel towers at this time is to extend their life expectancy.

We've identified that there is an optimal time to undertake this work based on the age and location of those particular towers.  And when I say "location", it means typically in a high corrosive area.  So there's different parts of the province where, you know, rust will occur --I shouldn't say "rust", but these towers will be subject to accelerated deterioration.

So it is our proposal that if we begin undertaking this work at this time, it will result in a significant life extension of those particular towers.  So that is the rationale behind that increase.  And Mr. Ng can provide some more details around that.

The second one that I want to identify as significantly increased is the insulator replacements.  The asset need that I referred to earlier about undertaking accelerated insulator replacements was all prompted by an event that occurred last year, March of last year, where we had an insulator fail on a transmission tower that was situated in a parking lot.

The subsequent effects of that were the conductor fell, and it fell in the vicinity of a -- in the parking lot, caused extensive damage to vehicles that were in that parking lot and, frankly, could have had a significant health and safety impact.

As a result of that event we undertook investigations about these particular insulators, their history, their performance history.  Insulators were taken to labs, not only the failed insulators, but other insulators of that particular type and manufacturer, and that lab assessment came back and indicated to us that we had significant deficiencies in insulators within a particular population, so based upon both the reliability but, more importantly, the public health and safety risks, we are proposing to undertake a significant insulator replacement program of these particular types of insulators with a focus on insulators that suspend conductors over public areas.  That will be the first tranche of replacements, and we expect that to be completed within about four years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, maybe I can stop you.  Maybe I misunderstood what this table was talking about.  I had understood at least from the question that it was with respect to emergency transmission line repairs.  Is that -- and those programs -- I mean, maybe you're classifying those as emergency, but I --


MR. PENSTONE:  Not the steel tower -- not the steel painting.  That's not an emerge -- I mean, that is predicated on life extension, that there will be a net present value benefit of doing that work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I understand that this table should really -- and the question should have -- or at least the response to the Staff interrogatory should be -- or at least this is not -- the table here is the overhead line replacement program.  It is not -- there is no emergency/non-emergency distinction.

MR. NG:  Let me clarify one point here.  This response to this IR is focused in on one line item in the table.  So the IR asks what is a historical level of spend for emergency transmission line restorations, so to respond to that we provided a table from the pre-filed evidence that contain this information, which is the second line from the bottom.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I misread that.  I apologize.  There is not much change.

MR. NG:  Correct.  Yes --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein, that's why I asked which line are you looking at, are you looking at the bottom line or are you looking at the line item that does refer to transmission lines emergency restoration, which was in the IR.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I misunderstood.  I apologize.

Can I ask you to turn to I-3-1, Exhibit 2, attachment 1.  This is with respect to the audit planning -- sorry, it's attachment 2, but I guess it doesn't matter.  And there -- Ms. Grice had asked an earlier question, and it sort of -- at least as I understood -- was punted to this panel.

And my question is -- would be a request to provide two of the audits which I think are very essential to this application.  One is audit of investment planning is the twenty-fourteen-two-nine.  And then the second one is transmission line preventative maintenance optimization twenty-fifteen-three-three.  Can any of you provide those two audit reports?

MR. NETTLETON:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, the short answer is no, we are not prepared to provide by way of undertaking these reports.  The audit committee reports – sorry, the audit reports are prepared for the purpose of submission to the subcommittee of -- a subcommittee of the board of directors of Hydro One.  The purpose of that is for disclosure to the board of directors, and that subcommittee in particular.

But I think what we can do to be helpful is we can provide a summary of those reports, in particular the conclusions that are found in that report.  And I'll let Mr. Penstone talk about specifically what that might entail.

And I'm specifically thinking of if there’s action items and the status of those action items.

MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of the summary that we could provide you, it would be as Mr. Nettleton just described.  Here are the recommendations arising from that audit and here the corrective actions that have been undertaken as a result of those recommended actions.

MR. NETTLETON:  We are prepared to provide a summary, but the actual reports themselves we will object to on the basis that they are intended for disclosure to and for purposes of the board of directors of Hydro One and its subcommittee.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this response provides -- you were Looking at the recommendation, as I understand it, in one of the columns.  Are you willing to provide more than this?

MR. NETTLETON:  We're prepared to provide with you a summary of the recs.

Mr. Rubenstein, let us take that away and let us think about whether we can provide you with anything more than what is provided here.

MS. HELT:  So then, Mr. Rubenstein, the undertaking, as I understand it, would be for Hydro One to consider whether they are able to provide you with more than what is set out in the document.  I think it is I 31, Exhibit 2, attachment 1, and the summary of recommendations.  And if there is more that can be produced, Hydro One will produce it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it an undertaking?  Sorry, is it by way of undertaking?

MR. NETTLETON:  The undertaking is that we would look to see if there is any more information we can provide with respect to the attachment that was included as Exhibit I.

MS. HELT:  31, Exhibit 2, attachment 1.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is a refusal to provide the report?

MS. HELT:  And that is undertaking TCJ1.28.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.28:  TO SEE IF THERE IS ANY MORE INFORMATION WE CAN PROVIDE WITH RESPECT TO THE ATTACHMENT THAT WAS INCLUDED AS EXHIBIT I31, EXHIBIT 2, ATTACHMENT 1

MR. NETTLETON:  That's consistent with the undertaking that was given to Ms. Grice.

MS. GRICE:  Can I just jump in with one thing regarding the reports?  What might be helpful is to understand what triggered the audit.  Was there a state of play that is helpful in understanding the recommendations that you could share?

MR. PENSTONE:  I have an understanding of how an audit plan is established within the company.  But if you don't mind, Ms. Grice, I would prefer to actually get that crystal clear and basically undertake to directly from our audit group, how do they establish their audit plan.

MS. HELT:  That's an additional undertaking and we will have that noted as TCJ1.29.
UNDERTAKING no TCJ1.29:  TO ADVISE HOW THE AUDIT PLAN IS ESTABLISHEd, TO ADVISE THE TRIGGER THAT BROUGHT ABOUT THE AUDIT

MR. PENSTONE:  Because they do establish annual audit plans.  The rationale behind those plans, I can't speak to.

MS. GRICE:  I was just even thinking for the two that have been asked for, if that information could be provided in summary specific to those two reports.

MR. PENSTONE:  What was the trigger?

MS. GRICE:  What was the trigger for them, what was sort of the state of play within the organization that brought about the audit.  That I think will better ground the recommendations in terms of us understanding it better.

MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That then is that same undertaking, TCJ1.29.

MR. HUBERT:  I would like to propose, Ms. Helt, that the request for the audit plan that Mr. Penstone offered has already been in a previous undertaking that we made to Ms. Grice, I believe.  It was the considerations for what – how the audit plan is developed.

I think in panel 1, we had a discussion regarding that and Hydro One undertook to develop something like that.

MS. GRICE:  That's right.  That was on how you do an annual review of the audit plan, and then how you address emerging issues and if there were any.

MR. HUBERT:  Correct.  I think one of the undertakings we just took on essentially duplicates that, but what Mr. Penstone is offering to do is also for the summary for the two requested audits to also include in it a description of what brought on the audit.

MS. GRICE:  Yes, because my recommendation earlier for panel 1 was after the fact.  Those were after the fact questions, not triggers to an audit.

MR. HUBERT:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So I don't think there is a need then to change any of the undertakings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to pull up I 38?  This is AMPCO 8, and AMPCO had asked to you provide a table of the total number of assets, and the TX assets operating beyond expected end of life.

And I understood your response was you don’t track -- you only track this information for categories of assets, not lumping all the assets in together.  So the information is not available, and then you pointed to the asset categories at B1, tab 2, schedule 6 -- at least that's how I understood the response.

When I go to B1, tab 2, schedule 6, I don't – there is no -- for each of the asset categories, you have the replacement rates for replacing your assets, but it doesn't tell us what the percentage of assets operating beyond expected service life for each of those asset categories.

I'm wondering if you have that information and if you can provide it.

MR. NG:  The response to this particular IR is based on the fact that we couldn't understand what the IR really asked for.

It asks for the total number of transmission assets.  So do I count all transformers, breakers, every kilometre of (inaudible) that I have, plus all the PST equipment as the denominator and define the numerator.  We don't have that metric.

What we have written in B126 is as it goes through the asset overview, it is written in the text that when it comes to transformers per se, on page 3 of B126, line 4, we clearly spell out currently 28 percent of the transformer population is beyond its expected service life.  So the information is there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just not in the charts.

MR. NG:  Not in the chart.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it's in the text.

MR. NG:  It's in the text.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.  And can I ask you when -- what is the time period that we’re talking about? 2016? All that is for -- at the point in time was 2016?

MR. NG:  The assessment was done in May of 2016.  So it's a snapshot in time as of May 2016.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If I can ask you to turn to SEC 16, I-6, schedule 16?  We asked you a number of questions regarding projects that are going to in service in ’17 and ’18 that arise, in part at least, to regional plans.  And one of the sub-questions was details regarding the capital contributions which may need to be made to Hydro One and the methodology in determining the allocation of costs.

And you provide the projects, the regional plans, and as I read the response you talk about:

"The methodology Hydro One utilizes in determining the final allocation of costs is outlined in section 2.5 of Hydro One's transmission system -- sorry, transmission connection procedures in accordance with the transmission system code."

As you're aware, there is currently a policy consultation regarding how to allocate costs.  I just want to understand what time -- and so potentially in the future, although your sector project is proposing one method, which is the benefits pay principle, is it the previous -- the in-force language in the code, or is it this new methodology that you had proposed in the sector proceeding which is determining the allocation of costs?

MR. YOUNG:  Until such time as that whole consultation is concluded and it's determined how the two do the allocations on a go-forward basis, these are based on the existing code rules.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Can I ask you to turn to SEC 25.  And you set out the -- in the underlying evidence which we've seen in many applications the different categories of investments, so intermediate, vulnerable, asset optimal.  We had asked you for the purpose of this application what incremental investment funding level, and you said, 'Well, we don't -- it's on an asset-by-asset basis.'

Isn't the application one place where we know for each of the asset categories which funding level you're seeking?

MR. NG:  So this -- the reference here, asset optimal, intermediate, or vulnerable incremental investment, they are referring to an input to the AIP process, the optimization process.

The outcome of the process is the investment plan, so the optimization process would have picked one of these four options that eventually becomes the entry into the business plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is there anywhere in the application where we could know for each of the assets which ones ended up being -- which ones were the -- I think you said it's the input?  I understand you don't -- as I see this, it's a mixture of assets, so we can't average it out and give you a category, but you have it for each of the assets.

MR. MCLACHLAN:  Maybe I can -- hello.  So the question here, being that we have a number of different levels, asset intermediate and that, and the comment is that when you take a look at all those investments, you put them together, and the answer that Mike gave earlier around the fact that we have an asset investment planning tool, and we have now trained all the planners across the business, the various different lines of business, to understand how to be standard and consistent on their risk.

So now that they're applying the standard and the consistent risk levels to the investments, which will vary from an investment to investment, and the levels that are here are different funding levels, so that what you would see is a combination that some may have an asset optimal level put in with a very, very high risk, some may have a vulnerable level put in with a very, very high risk, so you could end up having the same risk at different asset investment funding levels, and when we put that then through our optimizer, our asset investment planning tool, it takes a look at all of that and then it prioritizes that.

So that's why it's not a one-to-one relationship that asset optimal is a low risk.  It could very well be a high risk depending on which investment and which type of asset it is, whether it's real estate or it's productions control or power transformer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there anywhere in the application where transformers -- you're saying it's, you know, intermediate level but the risk is high, low?  Is there anywhere in there that I could see that?

MR. MCLACHLAN:  Yeah, I'm --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize what you're saying, you can't compare asset optimal --


MR. MCLACHLAN:  I don't -- no, I --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- between --


MR. MCLACHLAN:  Yeah, I know.  I think what you're asking is for every investment that we have, the 800 or so, whatever it is, 400 or so investments that are transmission level, can you see in the application what the level was that's come out of our investment plan optimizer and what the corresponding risk level was for that investment.  For each investment you're asking, can that be seen in the application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I just -- is it actually set with the investment funding level at each individual asset or project?  So if you're replacing a transformer there's -- it's specific to each transformer?  Is there not the program of transformer replacement?

MR. NG:  So let me clarify.  There's four different level of funding.  Those are applicable to the program type funding.  So an example would be vegetation management, so there is an optimum plan to undertake a given volume of work per year.  Should the funding if at optimal level, all the targeted accomplishment would be achieved.  If the optimizer produce a less than optimum level funding, it basically means that we are not able to complete the work, the model work that we had planned on completing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you will get, say, for that intermediate category.

MR. NG:  Sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for, say, one that you're not doing all the work, it would have a different category.  It wouldn't be asset optimal, it may be intermediate or vulnerable?  Is that -- do I --


MR. NG:  Yes, it would be a lower level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my question to you is for the asset or the programs can you provide which one of those categories is it?  So you said vegetation management as an example is asset optimal.  That's one.  But for all the other major programs that you're seeking, that's what I'm asking for.

MR. PENSTONE:  I just want to clarify your "ask".  Are you asking that as a result of the optimization you would like to understand for programs which programs were selected at an optimal level, which programs were selected at a vulnerable level, which were selected at the intermediate level?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  So I am not certain how difficult that is.  If you don't mind, we will go back and undertake to determine how much effort is required to fulfill that request.  Like...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You want to take it on a best-efforts basis to see if it's doable.  That's fine.  We can go with whatever the answer is and determine --


MR. PENSTONE:  All right.  So I'm not -- I've got to -- I'll confess, I'm not familiar right down to the level of everything that goes in, but we'll go back to the group and ask.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  So that will be Undertaking TCJ1.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.30:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION REGARDING:  AS A RESULT OF THE OPTIMIZATION TO UNDERSTAND FOR PROGRAMS WHICH PROGRAMS WERE SELECTED AT AN OPTIMAL LEVEL, WHICH PROGRAMS WERE SELECTED AT A VULNERABLE LEVEL, WHICH WERE SELECTED AT THE INTERMEDIATE LEVEL.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I'm almost done, I promise.

If I can ask you to turn to I-6, Schedule 26.  And you provided an in-service additions chart here.  I was wondering if you could just provide this chart in an Excel format.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, the undertaking is to provide this chart in an Excel?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  We can undertake to do that.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ1.31.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.31:  TO PROVIDE THE CHART IN EXCEL FORMAT.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can go to I-6-2, attachment 3.  This was the introduction to Hydro One investment and planning process.  And I think it's the third slide -- no, maybe further down.  I -- all right.  Sorry.  The slide that starts with optimization.  I apologize.  I accidentally only photocopied that page.

36, right.  Sorry, my apologies.  And I'm interested if you can just talk about -- here you're, I think, generally talking about the optimization process, and I want to understand how you determine the optimization between transmission and distribution.  So how does that work?

MR. HUBERT:  It appears that it falls to the regulatory guy, because transmission and distribution are completely separate.  So they’re optimized as completely separate programs here with different licensed utilities.  So that's a question.

Mr. Ng is saying the same planning process, absolutely.  But in terms of -- if you're asking about are we optimizing investments in one category versus another, no, they're completely separate buckets.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. HUBERT:  The process is the same, but the tradeoffs are completely independent of each other, as you'd expect.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you for that.   Think that explains it.  My follow-up would be there are limitations to -- you have capability limitations when  you have a certain amount of employees.

How do you determine, in that case, where there’s resource constraints between transmission and distribution?

MR. MCLACHLAN:  Could we ask you for a little bit more clarity?  When you say resource constraints, are you talking about resource constraints on the execution end or Resource constraints on the planning end?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I guess it could be both, but I'm assuming on the execution end.  There are all these projects you want to do for both the transmission and distribution.

I would assume there are some points where you can't do them all and you have to pick between a transmission or distribution project, or you have to – you’re constrained so you can only do a certain amount of both – or maybe that doesn’t happen at all.

MR. NETTLETON:  Just to be clear, Mr. Rubenstein, are you talking -- again back to Mr. Penstone's opening presentation, I think when we got down to the box and the discussion you had about execution, it was very much done in the context of transmission, and the execution of and the pacing of investments as it relates to transmission.

And if your question then is does that have any overplay or overlap with respect to distribution, and how distribution carries out its execution of capital projects,  I think Mr. Penstone can probably talk a little bit about whether there is interplay or overlap between distribution and transmission in the execution of projects.

MR. PENSTONE:  So in general, the groups that execute the work predominantly on transmission projects, that is done by our engineering and construction work force.  They also do some work on the distribution system, but relative to the work they do on transmission, it's much smaller.

Likewise, in terms of vegetation management for example, that is predominantly done on the distribution network.  Yes, those forces also do work on the transmission system, but in general you can -- stations work is predominantly done on the transmissions system rather than distribution.

The point I'm trying to make is that we are able, working with the lines of business, that they understand what needs to be done and typically, from a transmission and distribution perspective, the one that has the predominant role -- so ENCS in terms of transmission -- they will be able to attest or confirm they are able to undertake that work as part of the transmission plan.

Once the distribution plan is created, they will then consider do they have the necessary resources or access to resources to also do distribution.  So we confirm it – you know, as Mr. Hubert pointed out, we create separate plans for transmission and distribution and the lines of business will feed back to us to say the extent they have resources available to do that work.  If you're suggesting that there's --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I’m not suggesting anything.  I'm just trying to understand how this works, and I think I understand.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Moving right along, I believe CCC has only about five minutes, so we'll go to Ms. Girvan next.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Good afternoon.  Just a quick sort of follow-up.  I get a sense of how this is done in some respects, but you said earlier that you had recommended investments by your planners and those go into a pool.

Are those ever assessed by independent experts?

MR. PENSTONE:  When you say independent experts, independent outside of Hydro One?

MS. GIRVAN:  That and just independent of – there’s two parts.  Independent of the people putting the projects forward.

I guess my concern is -- I can just tell you what I'm trying to find out is how do you – how do you prevent these planners from really promoting what they want done versus what really needs to be done.  Because if I'm in a particular area and I have a certain budget, and I'm protecting my assets and I think I need some work, I'm going to promote that work.

And I just wondered how you get around that.

MR. PENSTONE:  There's two steps that enable us to do that.  The first is that individual planners’ proposals are vetted and approved by their manager.  It's not just an individual, as you may say, Ms. Girvan, promoting their particular assets or needs for their assets.

The second step that is taken is once all of these candidates are identified and their risks are identified, there is a challenge exercise where the proposed risks and mitigation is challenged.  So they all go to a central group that views how the risks assessments have been undertaken.

Notwithstanding the fact that they have been trained, occasionally you will see discrepancies, and when we see discrepancies that again, based on our judgment, are difficult to rationalize, we will go back to the planner and their manager for further clarification and justification for their assessments.

MS. GIRVAN:  Who is on this committee then that you're talking about?

MR. PENSTONE:  So it's – okay.  So the initial step is actually not done by a committee.  It is done by the department that receives all this information and runs the optimization.  So they conduct what I'll say is a first sanity check of what's being proposed.  And we'll go back if necessary and seek, as I say, clarification or a better understanding of how those risks are established.

MR. NG:  Perhaps I'll take you back one step to the beginning of how a planner will go about and scope an investment.

The asset planner will look at, first of all, asset need.  If there is any deteriorating asset in a certain area, he is accountable to maintain.  From that point onward, he would investigate based on asset information and field input to narrow down the proper asset to dedicate more attention to.

Once he has verified that yes, this asset requires  Attention, then he would actually reach out to a separate part of the planning organization where there's an expert providing guidance to look at the assessment to say yes, the transformers is in poor shape and is required to be replace.

The output of that gets assess by this engineer’s managers to verify that he has gone through the proper planning steps to make this investment recommendations.  So there is check and balances in place.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So the management recommendations go into a computer model?

MR. NG:  The investment recommendations get endorsed by the accountable manager.  It becomes one entity within an investment portfolio.  The entire portfolio of investment get subjected to the optimization process.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that's the model.

MR. MCLACHLAN:  To add a bit more to what Mike was saying as well is that C.K. is correct.  They -- we'll say the local planner, the local management, reviews that, it goes on to a little bit wider step at his level, because he has a number of these groups, and then our group that owns that optimizer, if you will, the investment planning tool, they do that -- they do a sanity check, as Mike said, and it become -- it goes from there into what's referred to as a risk calibration session.

At the risk calibration session all of us that are accountable as either managers over programs or for investments, we then sit as a group, and we take a look at what pops out first as anomalies, and then basically it's a risk calibration session to revisit or challenge some risk levels.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Could you turn to CCC number 14.  This is something that was passed on from panel 1.  And this relates to the research, development, and demonstration projects.  Can you respond to that?  Is this the right group?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we can respond to that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks, Mr. Young.

My question is, do you do business cases for these or do you simply set a budget and decide later what activities you're going to do?

MR. YOUNG:  All the R&D proposals go through a form of a business case.  The various lines of business will propose R&D initiatives that they would like to do, and they have to provide a basis, a scope, and also the rationale, as well as the benefits in how they meet the corporate objectives.

And so we collect all of these requests for proposals, effectively, and we review them to ensure that they meet -- that they provided adequate benefits and that they can be funded.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Because I look at 2017 and '18, and for each of these categories there's a fixed budget that's the same in both years, and so I guess I was -- it's the sort of chicken-and-egg thing.

Do you set a budget and then decide which projects to do within that budget, or is the budget developed on the basis of projects that have been proposed?

MR. YOUNG:  In this case we set the budget first and then try to manage within that budget.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And how do you set this budget?

MR. YOUNG:  As part of the optimization process, looking at all the expenditures, all the OM expenditures, with the other programs, and it was determined that this was the appropriate funding level for the R&D work.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Was it based on history or...

MR. YOUNG:  There's some degree of that, but there's also an assessment against the other programs and their benefits and their risks.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  These questions are really quickly for Mr. Hubert, and it's regarding the scorecard.  So I'm just going to quickly recap of what my understanding is.

So you've proposed a scorecard that you have put in your evidence based on the transmission filing requirements, and that is in the evidence.  And then you also said that you're developing metrics that will evolve over time, and you refer in your evidence as well to tier 2 and tier 3 metrics.

So my question is really, what are you seeking approval of from the Board in this case?  Is it the scorecard that you have in the evidence, is it approval to proceed with these other metrics, that some of them are fixed and some of them aren't?  Can you help me with that?

MR. HUBERT:  Certainly.  What we're seeking for approval for is the proposed scorecard as per the filing requirements.  In fact, when we had our presentation day I noted Mr. Quesnelle made a comment about whether in fact the Board needs to approve the scorecard, but at this moment prior to a hearing our view is this is perhaps subject to Board approval.

As for the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics, we're not seeking approval of them, but we are sharing with the Board and with all parties our proposed metrics, and those are the ones that we expect to evolve over time.

Some of those may actually gain some prominence and evolve into future generations of the scorecard.  Is that helpful?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, and another question on the scorecard that's before us on the screen is, why don't you set targets for '17 and '18 with respect to these items?

MR. HUBERT:  So simply put, this is a "walk before you can run" exercise.  This is the first time that there's a requirement for a transmitter to put forward a transmission scorecard, and as such we would like to gain some experience with these measures.  We have stakeholdered them, and we believe they are the right ones, but in terms of the actual targets, we think it's premature to do so until we've actually gained some experience, first of all, in actually collecting the data, which in some cases is no small feat either, and then actually ensuring that it's meaningful and that it properly balances the RRFE objectives against each other, so -- and I believe that's quite consistent with the way the distribution scorecard was developed as well.  I'm not even convinced that today there are targets for all of the metrics on the distribution scorecard.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just a further -- couple more questions.

So if you could turn to -- it's AMPCO 46.

MS. GIRVAN:  So in -- and also in, I think it's CCC 2 and 3, one of the things that you've said repeatedly really through your evidence is that your assessment of your transmission system:

"A portion of the assets have deteriorated to the point where they pose a risk to business objectives of maintaining current levels of reliability and improving customer satisfaction."

And it says:

"A significant portion of the assets have deteriorated."

So if I look at AMPCO 46, and I see in the past -- I see in 2012 and 2013, 2014 -- 2012 and '13, sorry -- I see that you were approved for certain amounts, and I'm looking at 2012.

So you filed at 443 million under sustaining, you were approved 423, but you only spent 389.  And the same thing in 2013.  You filed 634 million, you were approved 584 million, but you only spent 480.  And I guess what I'm seeing with that is that you were funded through rates to undertake sustaining expenditures, but in those years you didn't pursue that as much as you were approved for.  But now you're saying because those assets have deteriorated you need to spend the money now.

Can you explain what happened in those years and why -- it happened in '14 as well -- why you were significantly spending less than what you filed for with the Board?

MR. NG:  There are mainly two reasons for that.  Number one is, in addition to the dollar, the capital dollar, there is also constrained from execution perspective.  During those years the development were fairly heavy, so many part of the --


MS. GIRVAN:  Excuse me, the what, sorry?

MR. NG:  Development resource, development work, building new station, building new lines.  Those use up the -- a significant portion of the company execution resources, and because of that the sustainment were not able to carry out as much work as we should do.

The other reason for that is during that time the sustainment philosophy was based mainly on asset base sustainment, meaning that we would go...

[Witness panel confers]
MR. PENSTONE:  Ms. Girvan, what we propose to do is we'll undertake to provide the rationale behind what occurred, or the explanation of what occurred in those years.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you can include sustaining and development, that would be helpful.

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, those are my questions thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking TCJ1.32.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.32:  TO PROVIDE THE RATIONALE BEHIND WHAT OCCURRED, OR THE EXPLANATION OF WHAT OCCURRED IN THOSE YEARS.

MS. HELT:  We will go now right away to Mr. Stephenson. I think you have about 10, 15 minutes.
Questions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  I do, yes, thank you.

The first item if I could take you to it's PWU Interrogatory No.4, and this is in relation to conductor fleet condition assessment.

And in the reference and in the answer, there is an issue about there were 31 percent of the assets that need assessment.  Essentially, I guess they had just not been assessed to this point.

And the question I have is:  is there any reason to believe that the 31 percent that has not yet been assessed is likely to break down in any different way than the 69 percent that has been assessed, in the sense of whether it's high risk, fair risk, or low risk.  It's a fair assumption it's likely to break down more or less along the same lines?

MR. NG:  I'm going to answer the question by saying the 31 percent of conductors that need to be assessed, the outcome of the assessment could verify the conductor is in fair condition or good condition.  When that outcome is determined, those assets will be moved into the low risk or fair risk bucket.  So it could be a combination of either.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You've already excluded high risk as an outcome of the assessment that hasn't occurred?

MR. NG:  No, the need assessment meaning that we need to go and assess the asset.  The outcome of that assessment could put that item either in a high risk bucket, or low, or fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I appreciate those are the buckets.  By definition, it's going to fit in one.  My point was simply that there is no reason to believe that the breakdown of the stuff that hasn't yet been assessed is going to be materially different than the stuff that has been assessed.

It's a fair operating assumption that the split at the end of the day is going to be more or less the same as the 69 percent that has been assessed.

MR. NG:  I'm unclear on -- when you say breakdown, are you referring to the conductors fail?

MR. STEPHENSON:  No, no, sorry.  The breakdown I'm talking about is the distinction between the categories.

MR. NG:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All I'm trying to do is forecast what that assessment is likely to result in, and I appreciate you have to actually do it.  But statistically, there is no reason to believe it's not going to be different than what you've already done.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Stephenson, I guess -- you added the word statistically, and I think that's going to be the problem.  So they have no – I mean, maybe ask the witnesses whether or not they have basis to believe that there is anything materially different.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Nettleton, I think I've asked exactly that question twice already.  I'm sorry if I'm not being clear enough.

MR. NETTLETON:  We’re almost at the end of the day, people are tired, and you can expect that people are having difficulty staying focused on the question.  I'm trying to help, okay.  So Mr. Penstone, if you could provide some light on this, or Mr. Ng.

MR. NG:  I'll try again.  The assessment is intended to determine the condition of the conductor.  So an old conductor may not always be a bad conductor.  It depends on many, many factors.  There is the environmental factor; there’s a design factor.

It is not possible for me to predict the outcome of the 31 percent assessment.  It has to be done to determine if they are in a poor condition or good condition.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me go to the next area, and this is in relation to the -- it's the asset risk assessment.  So this is back at Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 5, and this is the very issue that Mr. Penstone did his presentation on today.

And I guess the question I have is I understand that there are various considerations that are being assessed.  And I understand that they all are assessed and they’re -- a low rating in one area can offset a high rating in another area, and it's a holistic exercise at the end of the day.

And I guess the question is can you assist us, other than by saying it goes into an algorithm, by telling us how these are -- is there a scorecard, is there a weighting system?  Is there -- how do you rationalize between good scores in one area and poor scores in another to conclude whether or not it achieves the appropriate threshold?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the extent to which a candidate investment contributes to a business objective, the business objectives themselves are weighted.  So you can have an investment that addresses risks for multiple objectives and, you know, can mitigate risk for three business objectives and a similar investment that mitigates risks for three different business objectives.

What this algorithm does is it considers the weighting that is applied to each one of those objectives to be able to essentially -- I don't to say break the tie, but determine the relatively priority between the two.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I guess the question is can we see the weightings, in terms of how this works?  And maybe --let me just ask this question, maybe this is a way that it might work.

Would it be able to -- possible for you to provide us with an illustrative example of something that, by virtue of the various considerations and the weightings, met the threshold that it was an approved investment and then another one that didn't meet the threshold because it was below, and therefore was not an approved investment, so we can see what you are weighting as being important and how that had played out in the context of a specific candidate?

MR. PENSTONE:  I believe we can do that.

MR. NG:  So clarification – sorry.  Looking at Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 5, figure 1 shows 6 factors.  Those are 6 factor programs in our asset analytic software.  Each of those are scored based on a scale from 0 to 100.  High score, bad; a low score is good.

Those score need to be interpreted independently.  There are occasions whereby performance may be not good, but condition is okay and we will make a decision to accept that asset to be left in place, or the other way around.

So there is no aggregate score at the top to say that it has met this threshold; therefore, I need to propose an investment to be taken based on this six factor alone.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And for example, I assume you could have something that on five of the six it was okay but in one area it was -- it got a terrible score, and that reflected something that would impact badly on your corporate objectives, and so that that one bad score might be enough to get it over an investment threshold.

I take it that that's -- that would be an example of the kind of thing you're talking about?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. NG:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So I think we just really want to see some illustrative examples of this in action so we can understand how it works, and as I say, one that met a threshold and one that didn't meet a threshold would be a useful exercise from our perspective.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, I think we've agreed to undertake it.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  So that will be Undertaking TCJ1.33.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.33:  TO PROVIDE SOME EXAMPLES OF THE METHOD DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT B1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 5

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then just as a related item, this, as you've indicated, this asset risk assessment is a relatively new approach that you're using.  And I guess the question I have is, if we look back to prior applications, you obviously had a -- you still made investment decisions, and are you now looking at different things -- are there different inputs that go into the investment decision, or is it simply a different methodology by which you consider all of the same inputs that you've always considered?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the asset management of ageing electrical infrastructure is continually evolving.  As much as -- as we get a better understanding of equipment's performance as it ages, we make adjustments.  As we get a better understanding of the types of failures that can occur and their consequences, we'll be making adjustments.  So within the entire industry we are trying to understand or improve our asset management of an ageing fleet, without a doubt.  And within Hydro One we've been using new tools to assist us, not to generate the answer, but to assist planners to come up with good decisions.  We are using and have adopted new tools to actually do the optimization that I described.

So my point is we're -- this is an area where we're continuously trying to improve our management of ageing assets and the identification of asset needs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  But let me just ask the question more precisely.

Are there considerations that you are using and relying upon today in support of your application that are new and different than your last application, and if there is, can you tell us what they are?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I'll give you a good example, all right?  So one of the things that's new that we have this year that we didn't have in previous applications and we've included in our evidence is the results of the test results, the lab testing of the failed insulators.  So that's something new that we've provided in this application that we haven't provided in the past.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's a helpful illustrative example.  Is it possible within the range of -- for you to just give us a list of new factors not embedded in prior applications?

MR. NG:  Our sustainment investment process, the ARA process, has remained the same since 2014.  Nothing has changed since 2014.  The process hasn't changed.  Information, depending on emerging issues, the example that Mr. Penstone was referring to, the insulator, it was due to new information becoming available to us.  But the process itself, considering the six factor plus other influencing factor, that process has remained consistent, hasn't changed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Okay.  But I'm just hoping I can get an undertaking along the lines that Mr. Penstone and I were discussing about the new factors that you're taking into account.  Can I get that?

MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, just to be clear, this is the new information that is included in this application that has influenced our investment plan.  As Mr. Ng pointed out, the process is the same, but new information has come to light that was not available in previous applications.  Is that what you're seeking, Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I guess I'm not interested in new facts.  But I am interested in, are there considerate -- are there things that you are now considering that you weren't considering before?  I thought the answer was -- to that question was yes, but if I'm wrong about that please tell me.  And I'm not talking about new facts.  I understand that the facts change all the time.

MR. PENSTONE:  But again, we're certainly considering accelerated levels of investments for particular types of assets.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's an outcome.  I was looking more at things that were causing you to change your -- you know, we used to look at eight things to make us decide whether we were going to make an investment or not.  Now we look at ten things.  What are the two new things?  That's my question.

MR. NG:  The answer is, no, there are no new things since 2014.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

Can I just get you to look -- this is just really a clarification point.  Can I get you to look at Board Staff IR 13.  And there's a chart there.  I think these are illustrative examples from a couple of transformer stations or several transformer stations, and we see there there are two factors that are being considered and there are scores under each of these two factors.  One is condition and one is performance, and they're numerical scores.

Is this an example of what you were discussing earlier about the 100-point scale?

MR. NG:  Yes, it is.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I take it that the point of this example is that this is -- this is showing us circumstances where you have acceptable performance and very low condition scores.  Is that -- lower condition scores.

MR. NG:  No.  In this example here, high score means bad.  So poor performance and acceptable conditions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And so this would, I take it, under your planning process suggest replacement, notwithstanding apparently a fair condition?

MR. NG:  It's a maybe.  There are other factors that we will be considering to determine if an investment is warranted.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Well, anyway, we'll see this in the example you provide us where all the factors are indicated.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Stephenson, if I -- just one thing that has been discussed amongst the others from Hydro One regarding your question to the panel about, you know, last year or in the past we did eight things, now we're doing ten.  One of the things that is found in the application and is the focus of the application has been customer engagement and the fact that that customer engagement program has been and is an input into the investment planning.

So I think before this panel leaves I don't want to leave the impression that nothing has changed, because the application is strewn with that theme.  And I think probably the hour of the day sort of explains why that obvious category.  But if you want to talk to the witnesses about customer engagement, that would probably be something that falls within the -- what's changed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm all in favour of customer engagement, but I don't need to ask about it.

MS. HELT:  Just to let you know, we're running out of time.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm done.

MS. HELT:  Oh.  Perfect timing then.  So what I -- I would --


MR. STEPHENSON:  By the way, thank you, panel.

MS. HELT:  And thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

I would like to just summarize what I see as happening tomorrow.  We'll start, I think, at 9:30.  No need to start any earlier.  We will commence with panel 1.  Mr. Higgins has questions for panel 1, as does Board Staff.  We will then go into panel 2.  The parties that are not in the OPG hearing are Mr. Higgins, Mr. Ferguson -- you're not at the OPG hearing?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, I'm here tomorrow.

MS. HELT:  That's right.  Okay.  And Board Staff, and I think with the time estimates that have been provided that will take us well past lunch, or, you know, and then we will have approximately two-and-a-half hours in the afternoon to go through Mr. Garner, Mr. Dumka, Ms. Grice, Ms. Blanchard, and I think that's it.

So thank you very much, everyone, today.  We will also tomorrow -- if there is anything that's -- we need to go in camera for, we'll deal with that, and we'll also deal with the draft issues list.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
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